1

The obstetrical dilemma hypothesis: there's life in the old dog yet

Martin Haeusler^{1†}, Nicole D.S. Grunstra^{2,3,4†}, Robert D. Martin^{1,5}, Viktoria A. Krenn^{1,6}, Cinzia Fornai^{1,6}, and Nicole M. Webb^{1,7†*}

¹Institute of Evolutionary Medicine, University of Zurich, Winterthurerstrasse 190, Zürich, 8057, Switzerland

²Konrad Lorenz Institute (KLI) for Evolution and Cognition Research, Martinstrasse 12, Klosterneuburg, 3400, Austria

³Department of Evolutionary Biology, University of Vienna, University Biology Building (UBB), Carl Djerassi Platz 1, Vienna, 1030, Austria

⁴Mammal Collection, Natural History Museum Vienna, Burgring 7, Vienna, 1010, Austria

⁵The Field Museum, 1400 S Lake Shore Dr, Chicago, IL, 60605, U.S.A.

⁶Department of Evolutionary Anthropology, University of Vienna, University Biology Building (UBB), Carl Djerassi Platz 1, Vienna, 1030, Austria

¹Senckenberg Research Institute and Natural History Museum Frankfurt, Senckenberganlage 25, Frankfurt am Main, 60325, Germany

ABSTRACT

The term 'obstetrical dilemma' was coined by Washburn in 1960 to describe the trade-off between selection for a larger birth canal, permitting successful passage of a big-brained human neonate, and the smaller pelvic dimensions required for bipedal locomotion. His suggested solution to these antagonistic pressures was to give birth prematurely, explaining the unusual degree of neurological and physical immaturity, or secondary altriciality, observed in human infants. This proposed trade-off has traditionally been offered as the predominant evolutionary explanation for why human childbirth is so challenging, and inherently risky, compared to that of other primates. This perceived difficulty is likely due to the tight fit of fetal to maternal pelvic dimensions along with the convoluted shape of the birth canal and a comparatively low degree of ligamentous flexibility. Although the ideas combined under the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis originated almost a century ago, they have received renewed attention and empirical scrutiny in the last decade, with some researchers advocating complete rejection of the hypothesis and its assumptions. However, the hypothesis is complex because it presently captures several, mutually non-exclusive ideas: (i) there is an evolutionary trade-off resulting from opposing selection pressures on the pelvis; (i) selection favouring a narrow pelvis specifically derives from bipedalism; (iii) human neonates are secondarily altricial because they are born relatively immature to ensure that they fit through the maternal bony pelvis; (iv) as a corollary to the asymmetric selection pressure for a spacious birth canal in females, humans evolved pronounced sexual dimorphism of pelvic shape. Recently, the hypothesis has been challenged on both empirical and theoretical grounds. Here, we appraise the original ideas captured under the 'obstetrical dilemma' and their subsequent evolution. We also evaluate complementary and alternative explanations for a tight fetopelvic fit and obstructed labour, including ecological factors related to nutrition and thermoregulation, constraints imposed by the stability of the pelvic floor or by maternal and fetal metabolism, the energetics of bipedalism, and variability in pelvic shape. This reveals that human childbirth is affected by a complex combination of evolutionary, ecological, and biocultural factors, which variably constrain maternal pelvic form and fetal growth. Our review demonstrates that it is unwarranted to reject the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis entirely because several of its fundamental assumptions have not been successfully discounted despite claims to the contrary. As such, the obstetrical dilemma remains a tenable hypothesis that can be used productively to guide evolutionary research.

Key words: obstetrical dilemma, bipedalism, secondary altriciality, obstetrics, birth, pelvis, pelvic width, antagonistic selection, sexual dimorphism, human evolution

^{*} Address for correspondence (Tel: +49 157 879 56805; E-mail: nicole.webb@iem.uzh.ch)

[†]These authors contributed equally.

Biological Reviews (2021) 000–000 © 2021 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
	(1) Human birth: a risky business and a tight squeeze	. 2
	(2) The 'Obstetrical Dilemma'	. 3
II.	The birth process	6
III.	Birth timing	9
IV.	Sexual dimorphism	.10
V.	Alternative and complementary views to the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis	.12
	(1) Variability of pelvic shape	12
	(2) Energetics of bipedalism	13
	(3) Energetics of gestation and growth	15
	(4) Thermoregulation	17
	(5) Pelvic floor stability	18
	(6) Nutrition and phenotypic plasticity	20
VI.	Outlook	.21
VII.	Conclusions	. 22
VIII.	Acknowledgements	. 22
IX.	References	. 23

I. INTRODUCTION

(1) Human birth: a risky business and a tight squeeze

For modern humans, birth is a remarkably complex process compared to most other mammals. Despite its ubiquity, the birth process presents several hazards for both mother and offspring. Although modern obstetric care has virtually eliminated maternal mortality in developed countries, recent estimates suggest that in some parts of the world the maternal mortality rate still exceeds 1000 per 100000 live births, and the lifetime risk of a woman dying as a result of childbirth is a dramatic 1:15 (WHO *et al.*, 2014).

Historical records also document disturbingly high death rates related to childbirth in much of Europe, persisting until the 1930s (Loudon, 1992, 2000; Chamberlain, 2006). In 18th and 19th-century England, maternal mortality rates of 750-1050 per 100000 live births and 500 per 100000 live births, respectively, have been estimated based on parish records (Loudon, 2000). Similar to developing countries today, part of this high maternal mortality rate may be explained by malnutrition and an associated high prevalence of chronic iron deficiency anaemia that often resulted in death from haemorrhage, together with deficiencies in vitamin D and calcium, which were rampant during industrialisation and which may lead to a contracted pelvis (Wells, 1975; Wells, DeSilva & Stock, 2012). Another important factor were instrumental deliveries that became widespread in 19th-century hospitals and ignorance of aseptic principles during these interventions, which led to a rise of puerperal infections (Semmelweis, 1861). However, asepsis, malnutrition, and poverty were shown to be surprisingly minor determinants of maternal mortality (Loudon, 2000). In fact, the documented elevated mortality for young adult females in

medieval Sweden implied an even higher maternal mortality than in the 18th and 19th centuries (Högberg *et al.*, 1987).

Many authors also noted a lower life expectancy of young adult females in osteoarchaeological series of all epochs from the Mesolithic up to modern times (e.g. Acsádi & Nemeskéry, 1970; Sayer & Dickinson, 2013; Gilchrist, 2018), although it remains unclear whether other causes such as chronic malnutrition might help explain differences in life expectancy between males and females (Wells, 1975). Less contentious are analyses of 128 pre-Columbian female mummies from northern Chile at the age of reproduction, which indicated a surprisingly high overall maternal mortality of around 14% (Arriaza, Allison & Gerszten, 1988). The earliest direct indications of birth-related mortality come from fetal skeletons found within the mothers' pelves; the oldest three date to between 37 and 10 ka (Nava et al., 2017), suggesting that maternal mortality was not uncommon in the Upper Palaeolithic. In addition, Vallois (1937) inferred a high prevalence of childbirth-associated deaths in Neanderthals based on the observation that all individuals older than 40 years in the sample were males, and thus that females aged 20 to 40 likely had a higher mortality rate compared to males. However, larger sample sizes are needed to support this conclusion.

These mortality rates are surprisingly similar to those of current hunter–gatherer populations. For instance, a study on the Hiwi from Venezuela estimated a birth-related maternal death rate of about 4.4 per 1000 reproductive-aged women per year (Hill, Hurtado & Walker, 2007), which translates to a maternal death rate of 1300–1800 per 100000 live births (based on a 3–4 year birth interval). In the Aché of eastern Paraguay, a maternal death rate of 1 per 150 births was reported (667 per 100000; Hill & Hurtado, 1996). Higher maternal mortality rates are reported for the Agta of the Philippines and the Hadza in Tanzania with 3520 and 1022, respectively, per 100000 live births, which is greater than the already alarmingly high Tanzanian national average of 770 per 100000 births at that time (Early & Headland, 1998; Blurton Jones, 2016). This high incidence of maternal morbidity and mortality in traditional, and particularly hunter–gatherer societies supports the notion that human birth is risky even in nonmedicalised settings. Moreover, it allows for speculation that even before the adoption of agriculture during the Neolithic transition childbirth was associated with an elevated risk of morbidity and mortality.

Maternal mortality may result from a multitude of factors, and their relative significance may have changed throughout different temporal, geographic and cultural contexts. Nevertheless, one of the most important factors is obstructed labour, which is defined as the failure of the fetus to progress through the birth canal despite strong uterine contractions. Obstructed labour is estimated to be directly responsible for 8-17% of all maternal deaths, and for up to 30% of maternal morbidity in developing countries, second only to excessive blood loss and puerperal infection (Royston & Armstrong, 1990; Prual et al., 2000; Dolea & AbouZahr, 2003). This corresponds to an incidence of between 1.5% and over 17% of all births worldwide, depending not only on the geographical region but also on the definition used (Dumont et al., 2001; Dolea & AbouZahr, 2003; Say et al., 2014). Today, obstructed labour remains among the most common medical indications for a Caesarean section and instrument-assisted delivery (Villar et al., 2006). Its indirect toll may be underestimated as deaths that happen because of obstructed labour and its sequelae are difficult to assess. Moreover, many causes of haemorrhage and childbed fever are causally linked to obstructed labour and the long-term damage of the maternal pelvic organs through prolonged pressure of the fetal head during the first stage of labour (Royston & Armstrong, 1990). In addition to mortality, potentially life-threatening morbidities associated with obstructed labour include perineal tears, uterine infection and rupture, pelvic organ prolapse and obstetric fistulae, which can also carry significant stigma and potential social exclusion (Schneider, Husslein & Schneider, 2016; Bashah et al., 2019).

Obstructed labour also poses serious risks for neonates, such as oxygen deprivation and related brain damage and perinatal death, but also infection and brachial plexus lesions (Dammann & Leviton, 2000; Jorch & Hübler, 2010). Whereas neonatal infection may have other causes than obstructed labour, intrapartum-related hypoxic events are, with 8.5 cases per 1000 live births, a leading cause of neonatal mortality and morbidity, contributing to the death of 2 million babies and over 400000 impaired survivors globally each year (Lawn *et al.*, 2009; Lee *et al.*, 2013).

The leading cause of obstructed labour is a mismatch between fetal head size and the dimensions of the mother's pelvis. Termed cephalopelvic disproportion, this mismatch is particularly relevant to understanding how the risks of childbirth relate to the 'fetopelvic' fit. Cephalopelvic disproportion accounts for about 65% of obstructed labour instances, the remainder being mostly attributed to malpresentation and malposition (Gessessew & Mesfin, 2003). Cephalopelvic disproportion becomes more frequent with larger neonates (>4000 g) (Boulet *et al.*, 2003; Zhang *et al.*, 2008), although a large neonatal head is more strongly associated with complicated labour than is high birth weight (Elvander, Hökberg & Ekéus, 2012; Lipschuetz *et al.*, 2015). Another serious, although rarer, complication of high birth weight (>4500 g) is shoulder dystocia, arising when the mother's public bones obstruct the fetus' shoulders (Nesbitt, Gilbert & Herrchen, 1998; Trevathan & Rosenberg, 2000).

Birthing positions may play an important role in mediating the incidence of obstructed labour and birth progress. Compared to the supine, semi-recumbent lithotomy position that has become the norm in hospital settings of many countries, semi-upright postures like squatting and kneeling allow gravity to facilitate the descent of the fetus and significantly increase pelvic diameters in the midplane and outlet (Reitter et al., 2014; Hemmerich, Bandrowska & Dumas, 2019). Upright maternal positions, e.g. squatting, were argued to have a slight advantage over supine positions in terms of the duration of the second stage of labour and by reducing the frequency of assisted deliveries (Priddis et al., 2012; Gupta et al., 2017), although two systematic reviews failed to find a statistically significant difference (Gupta et al., 2017; Dokmak et al., 2020). There was also no clear difference in terms of Caesarean section rates (Gupta et al., 2017) or the risk was found to be higher in squatting positions (Dokmak et al., 2020). On the other hand, upright positions were associated with an increased risk of blood loss and possibly perineal tearing (Gupta et al., 2017; but see Dokmak et al., 2020). These findings call into question whether the increases in pelvic dimensions documented in imaging studies of upright positions actually translate into a meaningful reduction in birth difficulty (Gupta et al., 2017; Dokmak et al., 2020).

In any case, inefficient birthing positions do not explain the high prevalence of maternal morbidity and mortality in hunter–gatherer populations, nor in past European societies, where semi-erect postures seem to have been standard until the transition from home births to birthing in hospital settings in the late 19th century (Gupta & Nikodem, 2000). Presently, 63% of global deliveries still take place at home, mostly in rural areas of developing countries (Bang *et al.*, 2004), where non-supine positions often predominate. Yet, a study from India shows that nearly 15% of women who give birth at rural homes potentially need emergency obstetric care (Bang *et al.*, 2004).

Human childbirth therefore remains fundamentally associated with mortality and morbidity, which raises the question of how a process that is imperative for survival and reproduction could be so risky, and which selective pressures are ultimately responsible for maintaining such a precarious birth process.

(2) The 'Obstetrical Dilemma'

Humans are not only unusual among primates in their large brain size at birth, but also in having neonates that are twice as big as those of great apes (Leutenegger, 1982; Martin, 1983; Wells *et al.*, 2012). Either a more capacious birth canal, requiring a larger pelvis, or a smaller newborn would theoretically ease the cephalopelvic fit and reduce the risk of obstructed labour. Yet, birth weight and neonatal brain size are both strongly positively associated with infant survival rate up to a certain optimum (Karn & Penrose, 1951; Alberman, 1991; Zhang et al., 2008), and brain size has clearly been the target of directional selection in our lineage. Contrary to the expectation that our pelvis may have co-evolved with the increase in brain (and thus head) size, the human pelvic canal seems to have become markedly shorter anteroposteriorly, as well as slightly narrower mediolaterally as compared to great apes (Table 1), possibly resulting in the complex birth process typical for human females. This apparent paradox has implicated opposing selective pressures related to the evolution of bipedalism and rapid encephalisation that resulted in an 'obstetrical dilemma' in our lineage (Fig. 1; Washburn, 1960).

The notion of the obstetrical dilemma itself has a complex history, in part because its constituent ideas seem to have been around in some form since the early 20th century. One harbinger was Gregory (1928), who was the first to describe trade-offs arising from the evolution of an upright posture and bipedal locomotion in humans. Krogman (1951) elaborated on this by referring to these features as 'scars of human evolution'. Specifically, he described adaptations to bipedalism, including an evolutionary shortening of the ilium and lowering of the sacrum following divergence from the last common ancestor with great apes. Krogman identified these pelvic changes, in combination with our bigger heads, as the source of increased birth difficulties in modern humans. From the fetal perspective, Lane (1903) suggested that maternal pelvis size determines fetal size at term and thus its growth rate, which was supported by Thoms & Godfried (1939). Further, Portmann (1941), based on Bolk's (1926) neoteny theory, discussed the immaturity of human newborns and pointed out that the degree of neurological and physical development, as well as the slowdown in overall growth velocity of a one-year-old human baby, paralleled those of a newborn chimpanzee. However, owing to its simplicity, Portmann (1941) was sceptical of the idea that the size of the maternal pelvis alone could be a limiting factor of fetal head size.

It was not until 1960 that Sherwood Washburn formally combined these ideas in a popular science article focused on brain evolution and tool use, where the term 'obstetrical dilemma' made its formal debut. Stimulated by the accumulating evidence of early hominin fossils and associated stone tool assemblages, Washburn pointed out that although the ischium of Australopithecus was still long, ilium length became reduced during the early phase of human evolution as an adaptation to bipedal locomotion, which shortened the distance between the sacroiliac and hip joints, thus decreasing the size of the birth canal (Fig. 2; Washburn, 1960, 1963). Since brain size (and newborn body size) also increased during human evolution, the resulting 'dilemma' was arguably solved by delivery of the fetus at an earlier stage of development, rendering it effectively helpless. The term 'obstetrical dilemma', however, did not immediately gain traction among the scientific community; in fact, Trinkaus (1984) referred to the same phenomenon as a 'reproductive dilemma'. It was Rosenberg (1992) who eventually introduced it to the anthropological literature, adding pelvic sexual dimorphism as a second solution to the dilemma. It is well known that modern human females and males on average have a markedly different pelvic shape. Schultz (1949) and Leutenegger (1970, 1982) described similar differences, specifically in relative pubic length, in non-human primates with comparably large neonatal heads. Since the pubic bones contribute to pelvic canal size, and thus to obstetric sufficiency, they attributed this dimorphism to differential selection in males and females.

An important modification to the original obstetrical dilemma concept occurred when the focus shifted to pelvic width (breadth). Krogman (1951) and Washburn (1960) had pointed to the anteroposterior narrowing of the birth canal that coincided with the onset of habitual bipedalism in the earliest hominins (see also Kummer, 1965, 1975). Later this was reframed to the notion of increased locomotor efficiency deriving from decreased pelvic width (Rosenberg, 1992), which built upon the pelvic remains available in the hominin fossil record. The pelvis of *Australopithecus* was reconstructed with an exceptionally wide mediolateral breadth (Lovejoy, Heiple & Burstein, 1973; Lovejoy, 1979; Tague & Lovejoy, 1986; but see Häusler & Schmid, 1995,

Table 1. Female human pelvic dimensions expressed as ratios to the same dimensions in apes (*Hylobates*, lar gibbons; *Gorilla*, gorillas; *Pongo*, orangutans; *Pan*, chimpanzees). AP, anteroposterior (or sagittal); ML, mediolateral (or transverse); Bi-acetab., bi-acetabular breadth. Pelvic depth refers to the craniocaudal length of the pelvic canal. All dimensions are body size-corrected using femoral head diameter

Comparison (normalised to femoral head diameter)	Inlet AP ^a	Inlet ML ^a	Midplane AP ^a	Midplane ML ^a	Bi- acetab. ^b	Sacrum ML ^a	Pelvic depth ^a
Homo: Pan	0.61	0.93	0.85	0.88	0.86	1.35	0.52
Homo: Gorilla	0.64	0.97	0.90	0.96	0.92	1.36	0.57
Homo: Pongo	0.56	0.84	0.80	0.90	0.81	1.19	0.55
Homo: Hylobates	0.56	0.83	0.79	0.78	0.82	1.07	0.50

^aData from Tague (2005).

^bData from Ward *et al.* (2018) for apes and DelPrete (2019) for humans.



Fig 1. Schematic showing the original obstetrical dilemma hypothesis and complementary or alternative explanations (orange lozenges) as they relate to specific components of the obstetrical dilemma proposed by Washburn (1960). Note that most studies on the pelvic floor, thermoregulation, and energetics to date have focused on pelvic width rather than on the anteroposterior pelvic shortening emphasised by Washburn (1960).

1997), in contrast to modern humans, a feature that was interpreted to be relevant for locomotion but obstetrically superfluous (Rak, 1991). Similarly, Neanderthals were found



Fig 2. The hipbones of a chimpanzee (left), *Australopithecus* (centre) and a modern human (right) according to Washburn (1960). In his work on the obstetrical dilemma, Washburn used this illustration to emphasize the shortening of the ilium during the evolution of bipedalism. The corresponding anteroposterior shortening of the birth canal, rather than the transverse narrowing that is commonly mentioned, led him to propose the obstetrical dilemma concept.

to have a remarkably long pubis, which was initially interpreted to imply a broader pelvis and longer gestation duration compared to modern humans (Trinkaus, 1984; but see Rak & Arensburg, 1987).

In the last decade or so, the obstetrical dilemma, both as a hypothesis (or a collection of hypotheses) as formulated by e.g. Washburn (1960) and Rosenberg (1992), and as the phenomenon of an evolutionary trade-off owing to antagonistic selection pressures acting on the human pelvis, has been the target of many discussions and critiques. However, such studies are often only able to address specific aspects of the obstetrical dilemma given its multifactorial nature. As such, many have focused on particulars like compiling evidence for functional trade-offs in pelvic breadth (e.g. Gruss & Schmitt, 2015; Warrener et al., 2015; Gruss, Gruss & Schmitt, 2017; Wall-Scheffler & Myers, 2017; Whitcome, Miller & Burns, 2017; Grunstra et al., 2019; Pavličev, Romero & Mitteroecker, 2019), evaluating secondary altriciality in humans (Dunsworth et al., 2012; Dunsworth, 2016), discussing how an already challenging evolutionary situation is exacerbated by behavioural and environmental changes (Wells et al., 2012; Wells, 2015, 2017), investigating the role of thermoregulation (e.g. Ruff, 1991, 1994; Gruss & Schmitt, 2015), or emphasising biocultural considerations (Stone, 2016). Most of these aspects are complementary to explaining the complex phenomenon of difficult birth in humans (Fig. 1). By contrast, a few researchers have made efforts to evaluate critically multiple facets of the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis through empirical testing (Dunsworth et al., 2012) or on theoretical grounds (see Dunsworth, 2016, 2018), subsequently advocating rejection of the hypothesis in



Fig 3. Sections through the bony birth canal. (A) Chimpanzee in lateral view. The bony portion of the birth canal is an almost straight, short tube with the pelvic inlet being an oblique plane to its longitudinal axis; only the anteroposterior diameter perpendicular to the longitudinal axis is obstetrically relevant. (B, C) Modern human in lateral and in anterior view, respectively. The birth passage is curved and begins at the pelvic inlet, is mediolaterally narrowest at the midplane between the ischial spines and widens again at the outlet between the ischial tuberosities.

its entirety (e.g. Dunsworth, 2016, 2018; Nowell & Kurki, 2020).

One objective of this review is to explore the validity and utility of the ideas that shaped the original obstetrical dilemma in the mid-20th century, and those that have since developed from them. In an effort to advance the debate, we also identify important outstanding questions and directions for future research that may elucidate the origins of the complex human birth process.

II. THE BIRTH PROCESS

To determine whether human birth is uniquely difficult, it is necessary to compare the human birth process to that of our zoological relatives, the non-human primates. Despite being broadly similar, human birth differs from that of other primates in several ways that warrant evolutionary explanations.

Firstly, due to our anteroposteriorly shortened and convoluted pelvic anatomy and large fetal dimensions, human birth typically involves a complex and specific sequence of head rotation, flexion and restitution, along with shoulder rotation that aligns the fetus with the convoluted shape of the human bony birth canal to allow successful passage (Figs 3, 4) (Rosenberg, 1992; Abitbol, 1996; Rosenberg & Trevathan, 2002; Trevathan, 2015). Dorsally, the fetus navigates a trajectory that follows the lumbar and sacral curvatures and the inward-protruding coccyx, or tailbone (Schneider *et al.*, 2016). In non-human primates, the birth canal is shorter and shaped more like an oblique ring than a tube. This bony ring is generally sagittally (dorsoventrally) elongated, permitting the fetus to maintain its orientation as it descends along a relatively straight path.

Additionally, contrasting with other primate species, obstructed labour is more common in humans. Although direct observational data from the wild remain sparse, birth seems to progress comparatively easily for most non-human primates (Lindburg, 1982; Turner et al., 2010; Nguyen et al., 2017). Nevertheless, instances of obstructed labour have been reported for both diminutive marmosets and smallbodied squirrel monkeys (Saimiri sciureus) (Abee, 1989; Debyser, 1995) as well as medium-sized macaques (Macaca *mulatta* and *M. fascicularis*) and baboons (*Papio* spp.) (Schultz, 1949; Schlabritz-Loutsevitch et al., 2018). A study on a large sample of captive pigtailed macaques (Macaca nemes*trina*) reported a surprisingly high incidence of difficult births at 14%, while in some captive squirrel monkey populations the occurrence may be as high as 50% (Bowden, Winter & Ploog, 1967: Stockinger et al., 2011). Since these species give birth to neonates with relatively large head sizes compared to the mother's pelvic dimensions - similar to the ratio observed for humans (Schultz, 1949; Leutenegger, 1970) - it is often assumed that birthing difficulties in macaques and squirrel monkeys are the result of cephalopelvic constraints. Yet, in a captive colony of pigtailed macaques, most birth difficulties turned out to be due to malpresentation, particularly breech positions (Stockinger et al., 2011). Breech presentations were also found to be a major cause (25%) of dystocic births in baboons (Schlabritz-Loutsevitch et al., 2018), and they seem to explain most birth difficulties in squirrel monkeys and other non-human primates (Bowden et al., 1967; Stoller, 1995).

In humans the neonatal head is large relative to the maternal pelvic canal, which is represented by a higher cephalopelvic ratio than in most other primates. High cephalopelvic ratios have also been reported for some smaller monkeys



Fig 4. Comparison of the birth mechanism in chimpanzees (top) and modern humans (bottom), in superior view, longitudinal section, and inferior view at the pelvic inlet, midplane and outlet. In chimpanzees, the fetal head is likely extended throughout the birth process, i.e. in a mentum anterior orientation as it usually occurs in non-human primates, but the fetus can also be born with a flexed head as in humans. In humans, the fetal head is flexed and its orientation adapts to the changing shape of the different pelvic planes.

Cephalopelvic proportions:

Different adaptations hominins and monkeys:



Fig 5. Relationship of the maternal pelvis and fetal head during birth and adaptations to reduce cephalopelvic disproportion. The traditional cephalopelvic proportions according to Schultz (1949) and Leutenegger (1982) are misleading, since maximum length and breadth of the fetal head in relation to the dimensions of the mother's pelvic inlet (left, superior view) are of little obstetrical relevance. Adaptations to high cephalopelvic proportions in humans (and probably in australopithecines) include an elaborate rotational birth mechanism and fetal neck flexion that reduce the diameter of the fetal head, head moulding afforded by open cranial sutures and fontanels, and sacral nutation up to 2 cm permitted by limited sacroiliac joint laxity. In great apes, the relatively small fetal size does not require pronounced adaptations, resulting in only subtle pelvic sexual dimorphism, and neonates are born with either an extended or flexed neck. In small-bodied monkeys and gibbons, fetus head size might significantly exceed the size of the mother's pelvis, and adaptations to ease birth include pronounced ligamentous laxity particularly at the pubic symphysis and extension of the neck of the fetus so that the smaller submento-bregmatic diameter is presented rather than the maximum length of the head adapted from (Stoller, 1995).

and apes, for instance, squirrel monkeys, macaques, and lar gibbons (Hylobates lar) (Schultz, 1949; Leutenegger, 1970; Rosenberg & Trevathan, 2002). However, these values are misleading and likely overestimate the tightness of the cephalopelvic fit because they are based on specific fetal head dimensions and maternal pelvic dimensions that are both obstetrically irrelevant. For example, the monkey fetal neck is typically extended during parturition, resulting in a 'mentum anterior', or face, presentation. As such, the submentobregmatic height (face length) rather than the longer occipito-frontal diameter of the neonatal head is the obstetrically relevant measure (Fig. 5; Stoller, 1995). Moreover, the obstetrically relevant dimension of the pelvic canal in nonhuman primates is the shortest diameter that is perpendicular to the birth trajectory, while the anteroposterior dimension of the (obliquely oriented) pelvic inlet is less relevant for birth

(Fig. 3). Conversely, in modern humans the pelvic inlet is usually perpendicular to the birth trajectory and the fetus engages the birth canal with a flexed head, leading to an 'occiput' presentation as sometimes also occurs in great apes. Accordingly, the obstetrically relevant head length is actually the suboccipito-bregmatic diameter, which also is considerably shorter than the greatest head length.

The tight cephalopelvic fit in humans is mitigated by the open fontanelles that render the human neonatal head highly malleable during birth. In non-human primates, this type of cranial moulding is restricted due to the almost closed fontanelles at the time of birth (Schultz, 1969), suggesting reduced cephalopelvic constraints relative to humans (Stoller, 1995). On the other hand, monkeys have a short and straight sacrum and some experience significantly increased relaxinmediated ligamentous flexibility at the pubic symphysis and sacroiliac joint (Hisaw, 1926; Hartman & Straus, 1939), which significantly increases pelvic canal area, as documented for both baboons and squirrel monkeys (Stoller, 1995) (Fig. 5). Contrastingly, humans (and probably great apes) experience only a limited degree of mobility *via* the sacroiliac joint, as the distal tip of the sacrum can rotate backwards a maximum of 2 cm (Borell & Fernström, 1957; Ohlsén, 1973). An even smaller increase in flexibility occurs at the human pubic symphysis during late pregnancy (on average 3 mm; Becker, Woodley & Stringer, 2010). This relative inflexibility in the human pelvis may reflect our upright, bipedal mode of locomotion which requires increased stability.

Lastly, in monkeys, the offspring is generally born facing the mother's abdomen, which permits the mother to help guide and remove the infant from the birth canal (Trevathan, 2015). By contrast, the human fetus usually exits facing away from the mother, or in occiput anterior presentation, which has been argued to be an important factor for why humans commonly require assistance during birth (Trevathan, 2015). Interestingly, in chimpanzees (Pan troglodytes), our closest living relatives, neonates are born facing either the abdomen or the back of the mother at about equal frequencies (Nissen & Yerkes, 1943; Hirata et al., 2011), possibly because pelvic constraints are notably low due to a smaller neonate-to-pelvic size ratio. Overall, compared to non-human primates, the human birth process seems to be more complex and difficult, primarily due to greater cephalopelvic constraints arising from the relatively inflexible pubic symphysis and the contorted shape of the birth canal.

III. BIRTH TIMING

Washburn (1960, p. 74) proposed that the "delivery of the [human] fetus at a much earlier stage of development" compared to non-human primates was the solution to the obstetrical dilemma. Because Washburn did not specify what was meant by an earlier stage of development, this ambiguity has been misleading and often interpreted as humans having a truncated gestation time. For example, Trinkaus (1984) suggested that gestation length in Neanderthals was significantly longer than in present humans owing to their longer pubis and inferred larger birth canal, leading him to speculate that gestation was shortened in anatomically modern humans as a consequence of their increased locomotor efficiency. The discovery of the first complete Neanderthal pelvis, Kebara 2, has since refuted this claim by demonstrating that pelvic inlet size was not proportionately larger than in modern humans and therefore inferred gestation length was also not different (Rak & Arensburg, 1987).

Human pregnancy is, in fact, on average 2 to 3 weeks longer than in orangutans and gorillas, and 5 to 7 weeks longer than in chimpanzees (Martin, 2007; Barton & Capellini, 2011). Moreover, relative to adult body size, human gestation is close to the overall average primate condition (Martin, 1990). Only when adult brain size is used to scale gestation length in a comparative context, does humans' high degree of encephalisation lead to a deceptively short relative gestation length (Dunsworth *et al.*, 2012). As such, adult human brain size is exceptionally large, rather than gestation length being unexpectedly short. The fact that human gestation is approximately as long as expected for a primate with our body size has been used as evidence against the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis (e.g. Dunsworth *et al.*, 2012). Similarly, genetic studies looking for evidence of positive selection in human evolution for preterm birth have yielded inconclusive results (e.g. LaBella *et al.*, 2020).

On the other hand, Portmann (1941) contemplated why gestation in humans is not even longer than in great apes given the helplessness of human babies at birth, their nonadult-like body proportions, and the relationship of longer gestation length with higher 'organisational complexity' observed among mammals. Portmann (1941) specifically pointed out that human infants continue to grow in length and body mass at the same rate as in utero for about 12 months postpartum, while growth velocity in non-human primates slows down at or near birth. Furthermore, human-specific behaviour, vocalisation, upright posture, locomotor capabilities, and adult-like body proportions develop only gradually and reach a comparable state of development to that of newborn great apes during the first year after birth. Portmann (1941) therefore termed this first year the 'Frühzeit', or extrauterine fetal time (sometimes imprecisely translated as 'extrauterine spring'). Based on this, Portmann (1941) proposed that humans would require a gestational length of about 21 months to attain the same degree of physical, neurological and cognitive development as that found in newborn non-human primates.

Later work also supported a two-phase growth trajectory of human brain size, in which the latter continues to grow at a rapid fetal rate until the growth rate eventually slows down shortly after the end of the first year of life, whereas in macaques, for example, this slowdown occurs already at birth (Gould, 1977; Martin, 1983; Halley, 2017). The proportion of neonatal brain size relative to adult brain size is on average 27–29% in humans and about 40% in chimpanzees (Martin, 1983; DeSilva & Lesnik, 2006). Brain size in humans achieves 40% of adult brain size by about 7 months after birth according to Dunsworth et al. (2012), and these authors therefore suggested that the extrauterine fetal time of humans is only seven rather than 12 months. Nevertheless, humans take distinctly longer than great apes to achieve the same state of neurological development. Moreover, Portmann (1941) characterised human neonatal immaturity in terms of several aspects of sensory-motor and physical development, not only based on differences in newborn-to-adult brain size proportions, which he argued are not very different in hominoids. In fact, DeSilva & Lesnik (2008) suggested that, when compared to seven other catarrhine species, human neonates have exactly the brain size expected given our adult brain size (but see Martin, 1983).

Despite the large human body size at birth and a gestation length that is not shorter than expected for our body size, the greater prematurity of the human brain at birth and the resulting helplessness of human infants nevertheless contrasts with the considerably more developed, precocial nonhuman primates, a condition termed 'secondary altriciality' by Portmann (1941). Altricial neonates are proposed to be the ancestral state among placental mammals (Portmann, 1939; Martin, 2007), and in this particular instance, the term 'secondary' refers to the reversion to an ancestral condition that was lost in primates and then regained as a derived condition in humans. The applicability of the label 'secondary altriciality' to humans has been questioned by Dunsworth (2016, 2018) on the grounds that we are not born after a short gestation period at a very premature stage of development (e.g. when eyes and ears are still closed), as is typical for the altricial offspring of most rodents and carnivorans. But the evolution of complex traits is generally not reversed to the exact ancestral condition (Gould, 1970), and neither altriciality nor precociality are discrete, monolithic packages of traits. They may therefore change in different ways depending on the phylogenetic lineage. In this sense, human newborns are the most altricial among primates based on their relatively underdeveloped motor and sensory abilities. However, Schultz (1969) demonstrated that the degree and rate of postnatal development among primates lie on a continuum, such that the slow postnatal maturation of humans cannot be called 'unique'. For example, bush babies and macaques begin to walk within several hours and days, respectively, while chimpanzees and gorillas only do so after about 20 weeks, and humans after about 40 weeks (Schultz, 1969; see also Garwicz, Christensson & Psouni, 2009).

IV. SEXUAL DIMORPHISM

Pelvic sexual dimorphism is another way in which selection can act to minimise anatomical constraints on the birth process. The pronounced degree of pelvic sexual dimorphism in humans in itself offers strong evidence for the notion that the pelvis is subject to conflicting selection pressures, an important consideration for evaluating the existence of an evolutionary trade-off.

Compared to males, human females usually possess a wider sciatic notch, an increased bi-ischial breadth, a longer pubis, a larger subpubic angle, as well as a relatively wider sacrum. All of these features contribute to a more spacious birth canal (Fig. 6). In fact, several dimensions (e.g. sagittal and transverse diameters of the pelvic inlet, midplane, and outlet) of the female pelvis are absolutely as well as relatively larger than in the male pelvis, despite women having a smaller average body size than men (e.g. Tague, 2005; DelPrete, 2019). This high degree of sexual dimorphism is not known elsewhere in the human skeleton, nor is it likely present in the pelvis of most extant non-human mammals

(Tague, 2016). Indeed, various studies have shown that body size differences cannot account for the existence of more birthamenable size and shape features in the female pelvis of humans and various non-human primates (Gingerich, 1972; Tague, 1991; Arsuaga & Carretero, 1994; St. Clair, 2007; Fischer & Mitteroecker, 2017; Moffett, 2017). Accordingly, human and non-human primate pelvic sexual dimorphism has long been attributed to sex-specific selection associated with parturition in females (Schultz, 1949: Leutenegger, 1974; Tague, 1991; Rosenberg, 1992; St. Clair, 2007; Fischer & Mitteroecker, 2017).

However, recent work has cast doubt on whether the human pelvis is as evolutionarily constrained as a scenario of opposing selection pressures would imply. Adaptive interpretations of sexual dimorphism, specifically in the human pelvis, have recently been criticised on the grounds of differential hormone levels in the sexes being capable of inducing dimorphism in the skeleton (Dunsworth, 2020). Furthermore, observations of considerable variability in the shape of the female pelvis (Arsuaga & Carretero, 1994; Betti et al., 2013; Kurki, 2013b; Kurki & Decrausaz, 2016), geographical diversity in pelvic form and pelvic sexual dimorphism consistent with neutral evolution (Betti et al., 2013; Betti, 2014; Betti & Manica, 2018), remodelling of female pelvic shape during adulthood (Huseynov et al., 2016), and the role of phenotypic plasticity (Wells et al., 2012) may all indicate a limited role of selection in shaping present sex differences in human pelvic morphology.

From a quantitative genetic perspective, sexual dimorphism originates with opposing, sex-specific selection regimes. Complex sets of quantitative traits, such as pelvic dimensions, are polygenic and many of the genes underlying their development are shared between the sexes (Kenney-Hunt et al., 2008), i.e. the between-sex genetic correlation is high (Lande, 1980). Quantitative genetic work has demonstrated that selection for such a set of traits in one sex will elicit a correlated evolutionary response in the other due to genetic pleiotropy and linkage effects (Lande, 1980). Directional selection in one sex, therefore, does not suffice to bring about sexual dimorphism; it needs to be counteracted by an opposite selection pressure in the other sex, i.e. divergent selection between the sexes, or else the latter sex will simply show a correlated response to selection on the former and no relevant sexual dimorphism will arise (Lande, 1980; Lande & Arnold, 1985). The genes underlying skeletal development are mostly not sex-linked, so if sexual dimorphism in somatic growth is adaptive, sex-specific selection will act on developmental regulatory mechanisms, such as sex-biased expression of shared genes and hormonal modifiers (e.g. sex steroids and their receptors), to achieve sex-specific growth and consequently sexually dimorphic traits (Bernstein & Crelin, 1967; Badyaev, 2002; Parsch & Ellegren, 2013).

However, developmental pathways leading to sex-related skeletal differences in mammals are conserved and include differential sex hormone (e.g. oestrogen, androgen) levels produced by the adrenal and reproductive (gonadal) glands (Lange, Hartel & Meyer, 2003). Sex differences in somatic



Fig 6. Sexually dimorphic traits typically observed in the human pelvis. (A) The pelvic inlet is often rounder in females and more heart-shaped in males, while the distance between the ischial spines is larger in females (arrows). (B) The greater sciatic notch (light blue) tends to be wider in females and forms a double arch (dark blue) with the auricular surface while males have a narrower greater sciatic notch and no double arch. (C) Females have a wide subpubic angle and ventral arc at the pubic symphysis (arrow) while males usually have a narrower subpubic angle and lack a ventral arc (see Ferembach *et al.*, 1980; Bruzek, 2002).

growth (e.g. stature or pelvic morphology) might therefore be a developmental by-product of selection for sexdifferentiated reproductive morphology or other traits with shared underlying biology and are not necessarily the target of direct selection (Dunsworth, 2020). This may explain the apparent ubiquity of some degree of pelvic sexual dimorphism among mammals (e.g. Tague, 2005, 2016; Schutz, Donovan & Hayes, 2009a; Schutz et al., 2009b; Kaufmann et al., 2013; Grunstra et al., 2019). However, the degree and timing of hormone release is only one side of the coin; having sufficient and appropriate hormone receptors is also necessary to enable target cells to bind and respond to hormone signalling (Beato & Klug, 2000). Whereas release of hormones is systemic (i.e. they are released into the bloodstream), the distribution of hormone receptors varies locally (Smith et al., 1990) and between the sexes (Franz, Wendler & Oettling, 1996), which likely enables hard and soft tissues to develop more or less pronounced differences among the sexes. Indeed, research documenting a decoupling between the degree of sexual dimorphism in skulls versus pelves of the same individuals [humans: Best, Garvin & Cabo (2018); grev foxes (Urocyon littoralis): Schutz et al. (2009b)] supports this assertion. The spatial pattern of hormone receptivity is thus another potential pathway through which natural, e.g. obstetric, selection can bring about sex differences in hard and soft tissue morphology. In fact, the existence of more pronounced pelvic sex differences in mammals that give birth to relatively large neonates as well as the presence of pelvic dimorphism in species that are monomorphic in body size (e.g. Hisaw, 1924; Tague, 2005, 2016; Moffett, 2017; Grunstra et al., 2019) may be explained by this potential mechanism (Fischer et al., 2021).

Although the developmental and endocrine pathways to sexual dimorphism are evolutionarily conserved, they are not inconsistent with adaptive scenarios. The pattern of sexual dimorphism in the human pelvis is opposite to that in human body size, indicating that pelvic dimorphism is not a simple corollary of the hormone-driven induction of long bone growth. The magnitude of human pelvic sexual dimorphism is marked when compared to the often much subtler dimorphism in non-human mammals, including our phylogenetically closest ape relatives (Tague, 2005; Fischer *et al.*, 2021). It is therefore unlikely that sex differences in the human pelvis can be explained by the action of sex hormones alone; rather, they are more likely the result of a combination of existing developmental machinery and direct, antagonistic selective forces (Fischer *et al.*, 2021).

A more spacious pelvic canal is favoured by obstetric selection in females to accommodate the birth of a large offspring. This is supported by the observation that non-human primates with high cephalopelvic indices and large neonates show stronger pelvic sexual dimorphism, which includes size and shape features resembling those in humans (Gingerich, 1972; Leutenegger, 1974; Moffett, 2017; Zollikofer, Scherrer & Ponce de León, 2017). The presence of obstetric selection is further suggested by the adaptive covariance between stature, head size, and pelvic inlet shape in humans, whereby women with a larger head and women of shorter stature (both of which may increase the risk of obstructed labour; Dujardin, VanCutsem & Lambrechts, 1996) tend to have rounder pelvic inlets, which might ease childbirth (Caldwell & Moloy, 1938; Stewart, Cowan & Philpott, 1979), compared to smaller-headed and taller women (Fischer & Mitteroecker, 2015). Similar patterns of covariance between pelvic shape and fetal head were recently also discovered in rhesus macaques (Macaca mulatta), and were observed to ameliorate the tight fetopelvic fit that characterises these monkeys (Kawada et al., 2020).

Selection favouring a small pelvis, on the other hand, may act on men and women alike (e.g. because of bipedalism, Washburn, 1960) or on men alone (e.g. for male reproductive functionality; Pavličev *et al.*, 2019).

However, the universal pattern of sexual dimorphism in the human pelvis (Betti & Manica, 2018; DelPrete, 2019) does not mean that other, non-selective factors, such as plasticity and population history do not influence human pelvic morphology, or discount the possibility that women navigate obstetric or locomotor selection in different ways, resulting in subtle population differences.

V. ALTERNATIVE AND COMPLEMENTARY VIEWS TO THE OBSTETRICAL DILEMMA HYPOTHESIS

(1) Variability of pelvic shape

A key implication of the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis is that, because birth-related selection acts on women only, human males and females are subject to partly different selection regimes, yielding anatomical differences between the sexes in pelvic shape. In particular, following an initial stage of directional selection, obstetric selection may act as a stabilising force on human female pelvic shape to guarantee passage of the fetus through the birth canal. Accordingly, it has been proposed that stabilising obstetric selection acts to limit phenotypic variability in human female pelvic canal form, specifically size and shape, compared to that in males as well as compared to other skeletal structures (Meindl *et al.*, 1985; Tague, 1989, 1995; DelPrete, 2019).

On the other hand, age has been identified as an additional source of human pelvic variation (Berger *et al.*, 2011), with wider pelvic dimensions associated with prime reproductive age in females and slightly narrower pelvic dimensions in older females (Huseynov *et al.*, 2016; Mitteroecker & Fischer, 2016; Auerbach *et al.*, 2018). These findings evidence continued skeletal remodelling in females throughout adulthood that is observed to a lesser degree among males, a difference likely afforded *via* hormonal regulation (Mitteroecker & Fischer, 2016). This further complicates comparisons of phenotypic variability between the sexes and reiterates the need for studies that adequately account for these changes, as well as population differences.

The developmental trajectory described by Huseynov et al. (2016) is likely to increase variability of women in studies examining the 'adult' pelvis without distinguishing between prime reproductive, late reproductive and post-reproductive age groups. This confounding factor may explain the failure of previous investigations to find that human pelvic shape is consistently less variable in females compared to males (Tague, 1989) and other anthropoids (Tague, 1995). The same applies to the finding that pelvic dimensions are not less variable than limb form in either females or males, consequently interpreted as a lack of evidence for the presence of stabilising selection acting on female pelvic canal morphology (Kurki, 2013b). Moreover, much of the variation in pelvic dimensions observed among populations of modern humans has been argued to be explicable by neutral evolution (Betti, Cramon-Taubadel & Lycett, 2012; Betti et al., 2013; Betti & Manica, 2018).

Studies focusing on body form and ecogeographic variation confirm the problematic nature of attempting to decipher traits under selection that are constrained by covariation and exhibit considerable variability. This makes it difficult to estimate accurately both the direction and magnitude of selective pressures (Savell, Auerbach & Roseman, 2016). However, there is a lesser degree of morphological integration between the hipbone and the pelvic canal in humans compared to great apes, which means that these pelvic structures are comparatively less developmentally and evolutionarily constrained by each other. This not only increases the evolvability of the human pelvic canal but may also explain the greater-thanexpected variability of the human pelvis (Grabowski, Polk & Roseman, 2011; Grabowski, 2013). In addition, the reduced degree of integration between obstetrically relevant (pelvic canal) and less relevant (hipbone) components may itself be

evidence of the pelvis' response to opposing selection regimes and hence confirm the existence of an evolutionary 'dilemma'.

Analysis of the data of Betti & Manica (2018) showed that the anteroposterior diameter of the birth canal in all planes is consistently less variable than its mediolateral diameter across 24 populations. This suggests that these anteroposterior dimensions are under stronger stabilising selection across space and time than their mediolateral counterparts (Table 2). This is consistent with the predictions of the obstetrical dilemma as originally formulated by Washburn (1960).

(2) Energetics of bipedalism

An essential component of the original obstetrical dilemma hypothesis is the notion that bipedal locomotor performance is enhanced by a narrower pelvis, which contributes to a tight cephalopelvic fit (see discussion in Leutenegger, 1974). Originally, the focus was on the phylogenetic reduction in the distance between the sacroiliac and the hip joints in humans and its biomechanical implications for adaptation to an upright posture and sagittal balance of the body (Fig. 2; Krogman, 1951; Kummer, 1959, 1975; Washburn, 1960, 1963). Later publications, on the other hand, were inspired by the fact that - in traditional two-dimensional free-body diagrams of single-legged stance – pelvic width, particularly bi-acetabular breadth, influences energetic efficiency by altering the mechanical advantage of the hip abductor muscles (Inman, 1947; Lovejoy et al., 1973; Ruff, 1995). Over time, this notion of a biomechanically efficient, mediolaterally narrow pelvis has become one of the central tenets of the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis (e.g. Rosenberg, 1992; Dunsworth et al., 2012; Wells et al., 2012; Dunsworth, 2016).

Two alternative predictions flow from the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis: (i) pelvic sex differences are associated with differences in locomotor efficiency, economy, or performance, as observed in locomotion-related pelvic traits; (ii) small or negligible pelvic sex differences exist in locomotion-related pelvic traits and concomitantly, small or negligible differences in locomotor performance are observed between the sexes. The first is the assumption that is most commonly considered and tested (e.g. Dunsworth et al., 2012; Warrener et al., 2015), whereas the second prediction follows from the notion that directional (followed by stabilising) natural selection can limit phenotypic expression to a small range of phenotypes, all of which consequently have a similar functional performance. This makes it difficult to detect correlations between remaining pelvic variation and locomotor performance, especially amidst a plethora of other factors that affect either pelvic morphology (e.g. ancestry) or locomotion (e.g. age, muscular performance).

Warrener *et al.* (2015), employing both a static and a dynamic biomechanical model, found that the slightly greater pelvic width in women is not associated with significantly increased energetic costs during bipedal walking compared to men (see also Dunsworth *et al.*, 2012; Warrener, 2017). Specifically, their work on hip abductor mechanics revealed that mediolateral ground force production and segmental accelerations associated with the foot and limb influence force production by the abductors so that pelvic width alone offers little predictive power in terms of energy expenditure (Dunsworth *et al.*, 2012). As such, the authors concluded that the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis does not garner sufficient empirical support, given that narrower pelvic dimensions did not appear energetically more efficient.

However, when the data of Warrener et al. (2015) are used to fit regression lines to the female and male samples separately, a wider distance between the hip joints does appear to be associated with higher locomotor costs in females, but not in males or in the combined sample (Fig. 7). Admittedly, the data are too limited to yield reliable regression lines, but this observation does invite speculation about how increased sample sizes might elucidate a subtle relationship between individual pelvic dimensions and overall locomotor economy. It would furthermore be informative to conduct such work in more diverse samples that vary in geography and age, among others, to represent a broader range of human phenotypes. Ideally, such studies should also test how individual pelvic configurations fare directly in childbirth, which would contribute to our recognition of which features carry implications for childbirth, which influence locomotor performance, and which affect both but with opposite outcomes, i.e. those that contribute to a trade-off.

The work of Warrener *et al.* (2015) demonstrates that the cost of bipedal locomotion is surprisingly similar between the sexes, which may be explained by the extensive overlap in their bi-acetabular width. This overlap suggests that bi-acetabular width could be constrained despite strong sexual dimorphism elsewhere in the pelvis, a finding recovered in other studies as well (e.g. Fischer & Mitteroecker, 2015; DelPrete, 2019). This observation would support, rather than contradict, an evolutionary dilemma, as selection seems to have successfully constrained biomechanically relevant dimensions of pelvic width between the sexes, which may be at, or near, the optimal compromise solution.

Table 2. Variation of human pelvic dimensions across the means of 24 populations, showing that anteroposterior (AP) dimensions are consistently less variable than mediolateral (ML) dimensions (data from Betti & Manica, 2018)

	Inlet ML (cm)	Inlet AP (cm)	Midplane ML (cm)	Midplane AP (cm)	Outlet ML (cm)	Outlet AP (cm)
Mean	12.51	10.70	9.98	12.35	11.95	11.81
SD	0.73	0.44	0.60	0.44	0.80	0.45



Fig 7. A reanalysis of the data of Warrener *et al.* (2015) demonstrates that locomotor costs of running and walking increase in women but not in men with increasing pelvic width. Least-squares regression lines are calculated for the male and female samples separately. (A) Locomotor costs *versus* hip abductor effective mechanical advantage (EMA) measured dynamically, defined as r/R where r is the abductor muscle moment arm and R is the moment arm of the ground reaction force vector. Lower values of EMA correspond to larger bi-acetabular widths. (B) Locomotor costs *versus* hip abductor EMA measured anatomically. Lower values of EMA correspond to larger bi-acetabular widths. (C) Locomotor costs *versus* bi-acetabular width. Note that the sample size is too small to draw reliable statistical conclusions.

Ruff (2017) suggested that a rejection of the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis based on pelvic width is premature before other important mechanical consequences beyond overall locomotor costs are considered, including how the pelvis and femoral morphology function together as a complex to enable biomechanical efficiency.

Explanations for how pelvic dimorphism could counter disparities in energetic efficiency between males and females have been frequently proposed. For instance, some authors argue that anatomical disparities can be mitigated by kinematic distinctions between male and female walking styles (Whitcome *et al.*, 2017). Based on Rak's (1991) study on the A.L. 288-1 *Australopithecus afarensis* pelvis, Gruss *et al.* (2017) speculated about a potential adaptive advantage of a wider pelvis for short-statured women. Specifically, they found that women with wider bi-trochanteric breadth relative to leg length had slightly longer stride lengths afforded by increased axial rotation of the pelvis. The relatively longer stride lengths in these individuals required less hip extension and flexion, thereby reducing the vertical displacement of the body's centre of mass and lowering energetic costs. Additional studies corroborate the observation that the increased degree of hip rotation in women increases stride length and thereby decreases the amount of required steps to reach a particular distance, thus improving overall locomotor economy (e.g. Wall-Scheffler & Myers, 2013; Whitcome *et al.*, 2017). Therefore, a mediolaterally wide pelvis in shorter individuals does not necessarily result in a quantifiable negative effect on the overall efficiency of a bipedal gait.

The conclusions of Gruss *et al.* (2017) do not mean that antagonistic pressures related to obstetrics and bipedalism (or some other selective force) are absent from the pelvis. None of this work precludes the aforementioned possibility that the human female pelvis is confined to a particular biacetabular width range that is optimally adapted for bipedalism, outside of which disadvantages exist, and inside of which variation in width has only small effects on locomotor efficiency that are compensated by other anatomical features or changes to gait kinematics (Wall-Scheffler & Myers, 2017).

An alternative possibility is that the pelvis may have evolved to meet other biomechanical requirements, including those necessary to mitigate high joint reaction forces or excessive mediolateral bending that incur potential injury risk and their own energetic costs (Ruff, 2017). In addition, increased stability and speed flexibility over varied terrain, or improved efficiency while carrying certain loads, have been linked to the larger mediolateral pelvic breadth typical of females [see review by Wall-Scheffler & Myers (2017) and references therein]. Hence, even if the pelvis does not contribute to substantial overall differences in locomotor costs between males and females, this does not directly contradict the original idea that bipedalism may favour certain pelvic dimensions.

There may be various other ways in which current human pelvic form is constrained by an upright, bipedal mode of locomotion that simultaneously impose a constraint on birth, but which remain untested. Studies of the biomechanical consequences of variation in anteroposterior pelvic canal length are particularly lacking.

(3) Energetics of gestation and growth

One proposed solution to the original obstetrical dilemma is to give birth to a relatively immature neonate while head size is still small compared to the dimensions of the maternal pelvis, thus implicating maternal pelvic dimensions as the ultimate factor for birth timing. One mechanism involved in the timing of human parturition was identified in the 1980s. Work in sheep led to the discovery of an endocrine 'clock' based on the fetal hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis that is responsible for a surge of corticotropinreleasing hormone (CRH), and thus cortisol, at the time of birth (Petraglia et al., 1987). Because cortisol is a catabolic hormone involved in the mobilisation of fat reserves, Ellison (2001, 2008) proposed that birth occurs when the energy demands of the fetus exceed the mother's metabolic capacity to supply sufficient nutrition via the placenta. According to this 'metabolic crossover hypothesis', labour would thereby start when the fetus effectively begins to starve. This idea was based on the assumption that fatty acids are not able to cross the placenta efficiently. Ellison (2001, 2008) therefore proposed that towards the end of pregnancy the mother may no longer be able to supply the fetus with enough fatty acids to sustain rapid brain growth and to acquire the fat reserves necessary to survive the neonatal period. Since then, experimental and modelling approaches have shown that placental fatty acid transport occurs rapidly and that this process does not seem to represent a bottleneck in terms of the availability of nutrients to the fetus (Haggarty, 2010; Perazzolo et al., 2017; Lewis, Childs & Calder, 2018). This is supported by the observation

that maternal metabolism can supply macrosomic fetuses (weighing up to 10 kg in exceptional cases) with sufficient nutrients, without long-term negative outcomes (Khambalia *et al.*, 2017). Future work is, however, needed to measure the efficiency of fatty acid transfer through the placenta with greater precision and to understand how lipids cross the hydrophilic villous stroma and the endothelium (Lewis *et al.*, 2018).

Dunsworth et al. (2012) built upon Ellison's (2001, 2008) metabolic crossover hypothesis to explain secondary altriciality in humans and the timing of birth. This expanded concept was named the 'Energetics of Gestation and Growth' (EGG) hypothesis, which has been argued to be an alternative to the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis by Dunsworth et al. (2012) and Dunsworth (2016, 2018). The EGG hypothesis postulates that gestation length is determined by a metabolic constraint that limits maternal energetic investment in the developing fetus. As such, maternal pelvic size has adapted to neonatal head size, not vice versa. The neurological immaturity of human newborns is accordingly interpreted as a by-product of a delicate balance between maternal and fetal metabolism bound by a threshold reached when fetal demands exceed maternal metabolic capacity (Dunsworth et al., 2012).

Under the EGG hypothesis, the energy requirement of the fetus is argued to continue to increase exponentially towards the end of pregnancy-based on extrapolation of fetal growth beyond gestational week 36 - crossing the mother's metabolic ceiling at the time of birth (Dunsworth et al., 2012; see Fig. 8A). However, an alternative interpretation is that a linear rather than an exponential extrapolation of the growth rate is also plausible. Inclusion of the data point two weeks after birth [omitted by Dunsworth et al. (2012) in their Fig. 3] shows a decline of the offspring's energy requirement between gestation week 36 and shortly after birth, which might correspond to the 'starving phase' postulated by Ellison (2001, 2008) (Fig. 8B). Thereafter, the same (linear) growth rate as prior to gestation week 36 is resumed before it slows down again 1.5 months after birth and exceeds the mother's presumed metabolic ceiling at 2.0-2.1 times the basal metabolic rate (BMR) (Fig. 8A) only about 6 months after birth, when the infant is commonly weaned in presentday industrialized societies. This would suggest there is no crossing of fetal and maternal energy requirements at the time of birth.

Dunsworth *et al.* (2012) inferred an upper limit on sustained maternal metabolic scope around $2.1 \times BMR$, which is just above the metabolic peak observed at the end of pregnancy near $2.0 \times BMR$ (corresponding to 628 kcal above the energy requirements of a non-pregnant, non-lactating woman). This suggests that women approach a physiological metabolic cap for investment in fetal growth at the end of the third trimester. However, it is well established that, as a result of lactation costs, a mother's energy investment in her offspring actually increases to a higher level after birth (Butte & King, 2005). Lactation is considered by many researchers to be the most energetically expensive



Fig 8. Energy requirement of the offspring compared to the additional energy requirement of the mother during pregnancy and lactation. (A) Maternal energy expenditure (red) approaches a presumed metabolic ceiling between 2.0 and 2.1 × basal metabolic rate (BMR) in the third trimester, while the energy requirements of the fetus increase exponentially towards the end of gestation with a projected crossing of the metabolic threshold of the mother at parturition [data from Dunsworth *et al.* (2012), Table S2]. (B) Alternatively, a higher metabolic ceiling at $2.23 \times BMR$ [as deduced from pregnant women under the 'Forsum, 1992' entry in Table 6 of Butte (2005)] or $2.5 \times BMR$ (as extrapolated from endurance athletic events; Thurber *et al.*, 2019), would suggest that women do not approach their maximum sustained metabolic scope during the third trimester and that fetal growth rate is extrapolated with an extraordinarily steep curve to cross the maternal metabolic threshold at the time of birth. Inclusion of the data point 2 weeks after birth instead shows that, after an initial decline in the offspring's energy requirement, the same (linear) growth rate as prior to gestation week 36 is resumed before it slows down again 1.5 months after birth. The offspring energy demands before and after birth are meant to be directly comparable; they are based on the relationship of total energy expenditure (TEE) to mass in the fetus and on TEE with an allowance for growth in infants (for further details see Dunsworth *et al.*, 2012).

reproductive state in mammals, with various primate species complying with this trend (Sadleir, 1969; Prentice & Prentice, 1988). Humans are no exception, expending an amount of energy in the first 4 months after birth that is equivalent to the total energetic cost of pregnancy itself (Picciano, 2003). Further, the production of breast milk after birth is even more energetically taxing compared to the energy supplied directly to the infant *via* placental transfer (Prentice & Prentice, 1988).

Recently, Thurber *et al.* (2019) suggested that pregnancy might be comparable to ultralong athletic endurance activities, and that for events lasting longer than 140 days the maximum sustained metabolic scope plateaus somewhere around $2.5 \times$ BMR. This would theoretically permit the total energy expenditure required during pregnancy to be more than doubled before a metabolic cap imposed by nutritional absorption limitations is reached. It also implies that women do not necessarily approach a metabolic limit during the third trimester and that they could potentially invest more energy in the fetus. Moreover, if the maximum sustained metabolic scope is closer to $2.5 \times$ BMR rather than $2.1 \times$ BMR, the extrapolated growth rate of the fetus would need to be extraordinarily steep to cross the maternal metabolic cap at the time of birth (Fig. 8B).

Correlation does not imply causation, and so - although all studies on energy expenditure during pregnancy show that maternal energy turnover peaks around the time of birth (Savard et al., 2021) - it is possible that maternal metabolism has adapted to the duration of gestation rather than vice versa. The fact that most women in energetically non-stressed populations gain weight and continue to increase adipose tissue storage particularly during late pregnancy contradicts the notion that maternal energy resources are fully depleted near the time of birth. That there is still much to learn about the energetics of pregnancy is further demonstrated by the fact that some women in the third trimester of pregnancy are able to engage in rigorous endurance exercise, including training for and running marathons competitively. In fact, rigorous physical activity was even found to decrease the risk of prematurity and slightly increase gestational length (Holt & Holden, 2018; Beetham et al., 2019). There are also compensatory mechanisms that modify energy allocation in times of metabolic stress (see Dufour & Sauther, 2002). Evidence from rural populations in Gambia suggest the cost of

pregnancy varies according to the available energy supply, revealing metabolic adaptations for energy sparing that typically manifest as a depression of BMR and the mobilisation of fat reserves to mitigate reduced dietary intake (Poppitt *et al.*, 1993).

Although growing a fetus is indisputably costly in metabolic terms, the maternal pelvis also unquestionably constrains neonatal size and its successful passage during birth in humans (Trevathan & Rosenberg, 2016). This is evidenced not only by the very tight fit between the fetus and the maternal pelvis and the high incidence of cephalopelvic disproportion, but also by the occurrence of birth-related mortality and morbidity among mothers and neonates that is probably far more prevalent than in any non-human primate. Whereas the EGG hypothesis considers the maternal pelvis to have co-evolved with, and adjusted to, maternal metabolic investment during pregnancy, it is also possible that limits to maternal metabolic capacity may have co-evolved with, and adapted to, the mechanical constraints imposed by pelvic form.

During recent years it has become increasingly clear that the timing of human parturition is more complex than a simple endocrine clock involving the fetal HPA axis. This HPA idea served as the basis for the metabolic crossover and EGG hypotheses. In fact, among the animals studied, only sheep appear to rely on the HPA axis as the sole mechanism triggering birth (Menon et al., 2016). By contrast, humans are argued to have developed a coordinated, redundant signal cascade that encompasses multiple 'clocks' with interdependent mechanisms to trigger birth. Variation in individual clock dominance could then also explain the wide range of gestation length observed in humans. These mechanisms include clocks triggered by telomeres and fetal membrane senescence, as well as by inflammatory and mechanical factors, in addition to the endocrine pathway, and metabolic signals are therefore not the only triggers of birth (for a review see Menon et al., 2016).

Regarding mechanical triggers, it has been speculated that a feedback mechanism may exist between the maternal and fetal systems that monitors uterine distension and the amount of space available in the pelvic cavity relative to the fetus growing inside it (Wells et al., 2012; Menon et al., 2016). For instance, strong distension of the uterine wall and fetal membranes has been shown to induce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, among other signals, through the process of mechanotransduction, with a threshold value of inflammation now known to be an important parturition trigger (Menon et al., 2016). Furthermore, human birth weight has low heritability, in contrast to early fetal and postnatal weight, implying heightened plasticity of fetal size at term, enabling an adaptive response of the fetus to non-genetic factors (Wells, 2015, 2017). In fact, one study found evidence that maternal pelvic dimensions had reasonably good predictive power for neonatal size, independent of maternal stature, performing even better than maternal body mass index (BMI) (Wells, 2017).

17

The EGG hypothesis thus offers a valuable perspective on the obstetrical dilemma debate by providing a testable hypothesis related to birth timing. And while it is hard to imagine that metabolic resources are not relevant to understanding human fetal growth and gestation, the EGG hypothesis and the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis do not seem to be mutually exclusive (Shipman, 2013). In order to provide a *full* alternative to the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis, the EGG hypothesis must be able to explain the possible selection pressures that prevent the expansion of the birth canal and induce the evolution of pelvic sexual dimorphism (Trevathan & Rosenberg, 2016), in addition to addressing the high prevalence of obstructed labour typical of modern humans.

(4) Thermoregulation

The need to thermoregulate has long been recognized as a significant selective pressure influencing the evolution of body size and relative body proportions in response to climatic variation in endotherms (Bergmann, 1847; Allen, 1877; Meiri & Dayan, 2003), including humans (Roberts, 1953; Ruff, 1991; Tilkens et al., 2007). The proportional relationship between a body's volume (or body mass) and surface area has direct implications for heat production and conservation, with a smaller or more slender body with relatively longer limbs promoting heat dissipation, and a larger, relatively wider, stockier body with proportionately shorter limbs beneficial for heat retention (Ruff, 1994). Ruff (1991, 1994) expanded on this concept using a cylindrical model for human body shape, demonstrating that surface area relative to volume, or body mass, remains constant as long as torso breadth, proxied by bi-iliac breadth, is also kept constant, despite changes in height. This model forms the conceptual basis for those implicating thermoregulatory demands in the obstetrical dilemma debate (see Gruss & Schmitt, 2015), and it has been used to explain the negative allometry of pelvic breadth relative to stature when tracking hominin body size evolution in the fossil record (Ruff, 1991, 2010).

One consequence of these thermoregulatory constraints is that, within the same climatic zone, pelvic width remains constant regardless of variation in stature. Accordingly, Niskanen et al. (2018) observed little temporal variation in bi-iliac breadth over the past 30000 years within Europe despite stature decreasing significantly at the beginning of the Neolithic and increasing again only during the last two centuries. Provided that pelvic shape has remained the same, smaller females are, therefore, predicted to have the same incidence of cephalopelvic disproportions as taller females. In fact, the effect of stature on obstructed labour was found to be relatively weak above approximately the 20th percentile of female body height. As the likelihood of obstructed labour shows an inverse non-linear relationship with maternal stature, only women shorter than about 145 cm to 164 cm depending on the population have increasingly difficult births as measured by Caesarean section frequency (e.g. Dujardin *et al.*, 1996; Cnattingius, Cnattingius & Notzon, 1998; Brabin, Verhoeff & Brabin, 2002; see also review in Wells, 2017).

Conversely, the association between climatic zones and body shape has been widely documented across human populations (reviewed in Betti, 2017). For example, many sub-Saharan populations living in hot climates exhibit an elongated body shape (Ruff, 1994, 2002; Holliday & Falsetti, 1995). Furthermore, bi-iliac breadth has been found to correlate with latitude across a large range, with lower-latitude populations having narrower overall pelvic dimensions (e.g. Kurki, 2013a). Pelvic shape has also been shown to vary with temperature across populations: both relative bi-iliac breadth (Ruff, 2010) and overall pelvic size increase as environments become colder (Betti, 2014). However, because it is a measure of the 'false pelvis' that does not contribute to the birth canal, bi-iliac breadth might respond to climatic variation without compromising obstetric sufficiency (Kurki, 2007). The comparatively low integration between different parts of the human pelvis and the associated higher evolvability supports this notion (Grabowski, 2013).

The ability to thermoregulate also interacts with pregnancy: fetal size directly impacts maternal heat production, contributing to heat stress in warmer climates and thus exacerbating the ecological pressures influencing body proportions (Wells *et al.*, 2012). Warmer environments are consequently predicted to exacerbate the obstetrical dilemma by imposing additional antagonistic pressures on the mother's energetic demands, specifically the need to balance heat production with effective heat loss to avoid thermal stress (see review in Wells *et al.*, 2012).

The inferred constraints on pelvic width imposed by climate also have been suggested to impact obstetrically relevant pelvic dimensions (Ruff, 1994, 2010; Weaver & Hublin, 2009; Kurki, 2013a). Gruss & Schmitt (2015) maintain that the climatic changes that accompanied the emergence of the genus Homo and selected for a more elongate and narrower body shape produced an evolutionary conflict in the pelvis that had been absent in the earlier australopithecines (Ruff, 1991) as well as in Neanderthals (Weaver & Hublin, 2009), both of which were reconstructed with wider pelves (contra Ponce de León et al., 2008). Gruss & Schmitt (2015) further claimed that the aforementioned evolutionary conflict led to a compensatory expansion in the anteroposterior dimensions of the lower (but not upper) planes of the birth canal in anatomically modern humans, resulting in the complex rotational birth mechanism observed in humans today. However, the alleged increase in temperatures in sub-Saharan Africa during the early Pleistocene contrasts with the general cooling trend and the shift to a more arid climate (deMenocal, 2004). Moreover, the supposed increase in anteroposterior dimensions ignores the fact that anteroposterior and mediolateral dimensions impact the body's surface-to-volume proportions equally.

Increased frontal loads imposed by pregnancy and childcarrying are expected to have significant effects on the mother's metabolic costs and choice of locomotor speed, which may vary between climatic zones given different thermoregulatory constraints on body shape and locomotor costs. Experimental work conducted by Wall-Scheffler & Myers (2013) suggested that women with wider pelves have increased flexibility in optimal walking speed, from which they inferred that high-latitude populations with wider pelves gain both thermoregulatory and locomotor benefits (Wall-Scheffler & Myers, 2013). However, only 5.2% of the variation in optimal speed flexibility could be explained by bitrochanteric breadth (i.e. pelvic width) alone. Moreover, Wall-Scheffler & Myers (2013) did not find a clear association of pelvic breadth with the minimum cost of transport nor with optimum walking speed; bi-trochanteric breadth only marginally increased stride length ($R^2 = 0.003$) and slightly decreased stride frequency ($R^2 = 0.005$), both weakly benefiting gait kinematics. These data therefore suggest that pelvic width, and by extension thermoregulatory factors, seem to play a minor role in locomotor efficiency between different climatic zones. However, more experimental data, especially from people spanning a larger range of geographical and morphological variation are needed.

Martin Haeusler et al.

As a complex, multifunctional structure, the pelvis is undoubtedly subject to various selection pressures, and the role of thermoregulation in exacerbating the tight fetopelvic fit warrants further study. To our knowledge, no studies exist that have revealed a correlation between obstructed labour and body shape. The high rates of maternal mortality in many sub-Saharan countries are probably explained mostly by socio-economic factors rather than by body shape, which is supported by equally high maternal mortality rates in Europe during previous centuries (see Section I). Even main proponents of the thermoregulatory hypothesis posit that, despite the influence of thermodynamics on pelvic form, it is premature to dismiss the role of bipedalism because other complex biomechanical and obstetric-based constraints may simultaneously influence pelvic dimensions (Ruff, 2017). Additionally, as pointed out by Wells et al. (2012), the true impact of thermal load on pelvic dimensions remains poorly understood, especially when considering how these factors change throughout pregnancy and the compensatory capabilities of the mother's metabolism to avoid thermal stress (e.g. fat reduction, activity adjustment).

(5) Pelvic floor stability

The selective pressure for a narrow pelvic canal, especially regarding the distance between the ischial spines in the midplane (Fig. 6A) might also be influenced by the need for a strong and supportive pelvic floor to minimise the risk of pelvic floor disorders (Abitbol, 1988). The human pelvic floor is composed of multiple muscles, ligaments and fasciae (sheets of connective tissue) suspended inside the pelvic canal. This includes the pelvic diaphragm, i.e. the levator ani and its fasciae, which evolved from muscles originally important for tail movement, and the thin urogenital diaphragm (Elftman, 1932; Benninghoff & Drenckhahn, 2008). The main functions of the pelvic



Fig 9. Magnetic resonance image of a pregnant woman, midsagittal plane, (courtesy of Tanja Restin, University of Zurich). Note the oblique orientation of the pelvic floor (arrow) and the position of the pubic symphysis (PS) relative to the fetus and the sacrum (S).

floor are to assist bladder and bowel control and evacuation, help support the pelvic viscera (including a gravid uterus in pregnant women), and contribute to male and female reproductive functioning (Ashton-Miller & DeLancey, 2007; Myers & Smith, 2019).

Whereas earlier publications (e.g. Abitbol, 1988) described the orientation of the human pelvic floor as 'horizontal', it actually has an oblique orientation (Fig. 9). Visceral and fetal weight are thus supported not only by the pelvic floor but also by the public bones. Nonetheless, the support function of the pelvic floor is more important in upright humans than in quadrupeds (Elftman, 1932; Abitbol, 1988). It has been proposed that the larger the human pelvic canal, the more displacement is seen in the pelvic floor, other things being equal. Accordingly, a smaller pelvic canal and more pronounced ischial spines arguably enhance its support function (Abitbol, 1988; Brown *et al.*, 2013). The 'pelvic floor hypothesis' thus posits that, in addition to bipedal locomotion, pelvic floor stability is an important factor in constraining pelvic canal shape.

Pelvic floor disorders, including incontinence and pelvic organ prolapse, are frequent among women, and can have detrimental impacts on physical, psychological, and reproductive health (e.g. Wall, 1999; Kenton & Mueller, 2006). Stress urinary incontinence, for example, is well known to be associated with increased abdominal pressure and loading impact from the viscera on the pelvic floor muscles during activities such as jumping, running, sneezing or coughing (Bø, 2004). Pregnancy and vaginal delivery are well-known risk factors for pelvic floor dysfunction and injuries (e.g. Kearney *et al.*, 2006; Lukacz *et al.*, 2006; de Tayrac & Letouzey, 2016). However, although the risk of pelvic floor disorders increases significantly with age and parity, it is also common among young and nulliparous women (e.g. Hendrix *et al.*, 2002; Lawrence *et al.*, 2008; Nygaard *et al.*, 2008). The pelvic floor hypothesis supposes that the frequency of these disorders is the product of an evolutionary conflict between the capacity to give birth to large babies and having a sufficiently supportive pelvic floor (Grunstra *et al.*, 2019; Pavličev *et al.*, 2019).

Support for the pelvic floor hypothesis comes from medical studies that found positive associations between wider pelvic dimensions and a higher incidence of pelvic floor dysfunction in women, after controlling for confounding factors such as age and parity (Sze et al., 1999; Handa et al., 2003; Stav et al., 2007). However, other studies failed to detect a correlation of bony pelvic canal dimensions with pelvic floor disorders (Stein et al., 2009; Li, Song & Ma, 2015). Such inconclusive findings may result from a weak signal-to-noise ratio in clinical data and the influence of various other factors that contribute to the development of pelvic floor disorders, making it difficult to isolate the effect of bony pelvic form. For example, both a reduced lumbar lordosis (the inward curve of the spine) and an increased thoracic kyphosis (which leads to a compensatory reduction in lumbar lordosis) have been associated with a higher incidence of pelvic organ prolapse, probably because they lead to a less oblique and more horizontal pelvic floor orientation (Lind, Lucente & Kohn, 1996; Nguyen et al., 2000). The development of pelvic floor disorders has also been attributed to the additive effects of the gradual ageing of connective tissues, hormonal changes and even routine strain associated with conditions like constipation (Ashton-Miller & DeLancey, 2007; Lawrence et al., 2008). However, a recent finite element study isolated the effect of pelvis size by holding other parameters (e.g. material tissue properties) constant, and found that larger pelvic floors, as defined by their radial dimensions, show disproportionately large downward deformations compared to smaller pelvic floors. These findings corroborate the hypothesis that a larger bony pelvic canal results in a relatively higher degree of pelvic floor deformation under the same intra-abdominal pressure, which undermines the support function of the pelvic floor and may increase the risk of pelvic floor disorders, such as prolapse (Stansfield et al., 2021).

Grunstra *et al.* (2019) noted strong sexual dimorphism in the pubic symphysis of bats, with females consistently showing a pubic 'gap' while males typically have a fused symphysis. This pubic gap is an obstetric adaptation to birthing large fetuses that comprise 10-45% of maternal weight (Crelin, 1969; Grunstra *et al.*, 2019). But the lack of a closed bony pelvic ring likely also affects where muscles and ligaments of the pelvic floor attach to their bony support and consequently impacts the supportive capacity of the pelvic floor. Grunstra *et al.* (2019) proposed that bats were able to evolve this highly sexually dimorphic trait because they are flying mammals that mostly roost upside-down, with both features likely to significantly reduce gravitational forces acting on their pelvic floor.

Proponents of the pelvic floor hypothesis have mostly argued for, or assumed, the selective benefits of a strong and supportive pelvic floor regardless of sex (Abitbol, 1988). But others raised the possibility that a narrow pelvis may be favoured especially in human males due to its potential benefits for male reproductive functions - and hence male reproductive fitness - such as sustaining erection and preventing sexual dysfunction (e.g. premature ejaculation) caused by a weak pelvic floor musculature (Grunstra et al., 2019; Pavličev et al., 2019). In a sample of Europeans and South and North Americans, erectile dysfunction affected 16% of men aged 20-75 years with exact numbers varying by country, age category, and degree of severity (Rosen et al., 2004; see also Johannes et al., 2000; Nicolosi et al., 2003). Although the incidence of erectile dysfunction increases strongly with age, 26% of all patients with erectile dysfunction are younger than 40 years (Capogrosso et al., 2013). Pavličev et al. (2019) further drew on the observation that pelvic floor exercises can improve erectile dysfunction (Myers & Smith, 2019). Although age and cardiovascular diseases are among the chief known risk factors for erectile dysfunction, this does not rule out a contribution of bony pelvic dimensions via pelvic floor strength, even if to a comparatively small degree (Pavličev et al., 2019). A potential connection between weaker pelvic floor muscles and larger bony pelvic dimensions in men with erectile dysfunction has not been tested and requires further study. This male-specific view offers a novel and interesting direction for future research concerning the obstetrical dilemma.

(6) Nutrition and phenotypic plasticity

It has also been argued that the fit between the maternal bony pelvis and the fetus is mediated by environmental factors that affect maternal and fetal growth, and thus that contemporary incidences of cephalopelvic disproportion are not the same as those experienced by earlier members of Homo sapiens. This view, predominantly promoted by Wells and colleagues (e.g. Wells et al., 2012; Wells, 2015, 2017; Wells et al., 2018), emphasises that the obstetrical dilemma defined as the *phenomenon* of tightly fitting maternal pelvic and fetal dimensions - is not evolutionarily fixed, but is subject to non-genetic mechanisms that are environment dependent. Moreover, the one-generation lag between mother and offspring means that ecological conditions may vary between the timing of maternal skeletal growth and subsequent growth of the fetus, further impeding phenotypic integration between pelvic and fetal size (Wells, 2015; Zaffarini & Mitteroecker, 2019). Maternal and fetal growth show high levels of phenotypic, specifically developmental, plasticity in response to nutritional stress and disease load, with some environmental stressors having antagonistic effects on the maternal and fetal contributions to the fetopelvic fit.

The emergence of agriculture, as a case in point, was associated with a shift from a high-protein, low-carbohydrate diet to a low-protein, high-carbohydrate diet. This resulted in a well-documented reduction in adult stature in numerous human populations due to the poorer nutritional quality afforded by the agricultural diet and an increased infectious disease load resulting from sedentary living (see review in Wells et al., 2012; Wells, 2015). It is often assumed that a reduction in stature is accompanied by smaller pelvic dimensions (Abitbol et al., 1997). Indeed, as discussed in Section V.4 for thermoregulation, short maternal stature below a threshold at about the 20th percentile is associated with an increased risk of cephalopelvic disproportion (Dujardin et al., 1996; Sheiner et al., 2005; see also Wells, 2017). At the same time, the high glycaemic load of carbohydrate-rich diets is associated with obesity and increased neonate weight (Clapp, 2002). Gestational diabetes, for which obese and shorter women are at an increased risk, can lead to an abnormally large birth weight [fetal macrosomia (>4000 g); Wells et al. (2012) and references therein]. Nutritional stress can thus lead both to stunted growth in childhood and obesity in adulthood, which has been dubbed the 'dual burden of malnutrition' (Wells, 2017; Wells, Wibaek & Poullas, 2018). In turn, this nutritional burden can exacerbate the tight fetopelvic fit and has been proposed to explain elevated levels of obstructed labour, Caesarean sections, and infant mortality on the populational level (Wells, 2017; Wells et al., 2018), but also in specific subgroups of various modern human populations, e.g. in Southeast Asian immigrants in the United States (Abitbol et al., 1997) and in under-resourced communities in Mexico (Mendez-Dominguez et al., 2021).

In some cases, poor-quality nutrition not only leads to shorter maternal stature and a potentially narrower pelvis, but it can also lead to reduced fetal growth (e.g. Konje & Ladipo, 2000; Christian, 2010; Özaltin, Hill & Subramanian, 2010). Where undernourished mothers are more likely to have smaller infants, birth difficulty is expected to stay constant as long as the nutritional situation remains unchanged (Abitbol *et al.*, 1997). Nonetheless, current levels of obstructed labour and related birth complications seem to represent, in part, responses to relatively recent ecological changes, which mainly involve secular trends in maternal obesity that are substantially stronger than those in stature. This has therefore been argued to constitute a 'new obstetrical dilemma' (Wells, 2017).

Intergenerational improvements in living conditions, rather than the obesity epidemic, have also been invoked to explain the recent surge in rates of obstructed labour and Caesarean sections in many countries (Zaffarini & Mitteroecker, 2019). Despite an initial decrease in stature, coinciding with the transition from a hunter–gatherer lifestyle to a more sedentary, agricultural lifestyle at the beginning of the Neolithic, humans have grown taller on a global level during the last one to two centuries to return to the stature that was typical during the Pleistocene (Niskanen *et al.*, 2018). This increase in body height has been steeper in some countries than others, sometimes within a single generation. In populations where this is the case, fetuses likely develop in an improved environment compared to their mothers, and because the fetus is one generation ahead of the mother, these swift intergenerational changes in nutritional and health conditions may lead to a fetal size that exceeds the size of the birth canal, causing a population-level increase in rates of obstructed labour (Abitbol *et al.*, 1997; Zaffarini & Mitteroecker, 2019). Indeed, among a number of socio-economic and epidemiological predictors (including obesity), the degree of secular increase in human stature was the best predictor of Caesarean section rate on a global level (Zaffarini & Mitteroecker, 2019).

Other factors may help explain contemporary and past rates of fetopelvic disproportion and obstructed labour through their effect on maternal pelvic growth, such as maternal age, (micro)nutrient deficiency, and disease. A deficiency in certain micronutrients can also curb pelvic growth, notably the lack of calcium and vitamin D. A mild deficiency of vitamin D of less than 37.5 nmol/l was found to be associated with an increased risk of Caesarean sections (Merewood et al., 2009), while severe vitamin D deficiency in children can lead to rickets and in adults to osteomalacia, both with concomitant skeletal and pelvic deformities. The Industrial Revolution saw high levels of malnutrition and low sunlight exposure, which resulted in an epidemic of rickets and osteomalacia. Because the associated pelvic deformities often caused obstructed labour, rickets was the most severe risk factor for maternal death in many parts of Europe until the beginning of the twentieth century (Loudon, 1992; Skippen, 2009).

Ecological and epidemiological approaches thus explicitly address factors that exacerbate an already-challenging evolutionary scenario. They primarily seek to explain the recent surge in the incidence of, and global variability in, obstructed labour rather than explaining the selective forces that have been acting to constrain the widening of the birth canal and which underlie sexual dimorphism in the human pelvis.

VI. OUTLOOK

This review demonstrates that, despite some opposition to specific aspects of the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis, a complete dismissal of its entire theoretical foundation is not justifiable given current data. Many additional explanations surrounding the obstetrical dilemma have been put forth over the decades since Washburn's (1960) publication, which have significantly advanced our understanding of the complexity of causal and contributing factors, how they interrelate and where they might offer complementary or competing explanations.

The fact that natural selection – expected to minimise strongly adverse fitness outcomes – has not managed to eliminate the high levels of mortality and morbidity associated with human birth continues to be a puzzling observation. Recently, theoretical modelling of the underlying evolutionary trade-off dynamics in the human pelvis have shed light on this paradox. Mitteroecker *et al.* (2016) showed that even weak selection for large-headed newborns and a narrow pelvis, resulting in a tight fetopelvic fit, is sufficient to explain the prevalence of cephalopelvic disproportion observed in human populations and hence the persistence of an obstetrical dilemma.

Further investigations into the different components of the obstetrical dilemma are warranted - notably that birth canal size is constrained by bipedalism specifically, as opposed to other selective agents such as pelvic floor stability, and that birth canal size in turn constrains further intrauterine fetal development. For example, future research initiatives could focus on correlating biomechanical function and performance with pelvic shape via more experimental work, focussing not only on dimensions of pelvic breadth but also on anteroposterior depth. Further exploration into the interaction between soft and hard tissues of the pelvis will help to identify additional constraints related to pelvic dimensions. Finally, additional research into the metabolic capacities of pregnant women in different populations, including women partaking in sustained endurance activities and those residing in non-industrialised settings, is needed to advance our understanding of birth timing.

In recent years, an additional perspective introduced to the obstetrical dilemma debate has begun to shape the discourse around human childbirth and must therefore briefly be acknowledged here. It concerns a biocultural perspective that considers birth-related problems as a recent cultural phenomenon heavily influenced by a patriarchal society (Stone, 2016). This view furthermore maintains that, by alleging that birth complications have an evolutionary component, the scientific community is masking bigger issues like the over-medicalisation of childbirth (in some countries) and health care disparities experienced by marginalised groups. This criticism seems to be supported by global statistics, including the disparity in regional Caesarean section rates and the influence of, for instance, poverty on birth outcomes. Bias introduced by the medical industry may impact birth outcomes by providing financial incentives, using supine birth positions despite evidence that other postures could facilitate easier births, and having obstetricians rather than midwives assist at birth (see review in Dunsworth, 2016). Specifically, doctor bias, related to both experience level and the desire to preserve leisure time, have been found to influence the decision to perform Caesarean sections (e.g. Costa-Ramón et al., 2018). The emphasis of such cultural aspects has enabled more rigorous exploration of factors confounding the obstetrical dilemma debate, and more importantly, has highlighted systemic bias in medical practice. Nonetheless, high maternal and neonatal mortality and morbidity is also characteristic of non-medicalised and hunter-gatherer societies. Accordingly, a productive balance must be struck between an adequate understanding of the risks of birth and the prevention of its unnecessary over-medicalisation. Therefore, while seeking to empower women when it comes to natural birth, we must acknowledge that some require assistance due to biological, potentially evolutionarily derived, circumstances beyond their control.

A further aspect to consider is the inconsistent use of the term 'obstetrical dilemma' in the literature. This term was coined by Washburn (1960) to propose constraints on pelvic shape due to opposing selection pressures from bipedalism and encephalisation, solved by the evolution of 'secondary altriciality' in humans. Rosenberg (1992) expanded the hypothesis by including sexual dimorphism as a second solution to the obstetrical dilemma, and adapted the hypothesis further, maintaining that the selection pressure acts on mediolateral width of the pelvis rather than its anteroposterior diameter. Other scholars use the term 'obstetrical dilemma' to refer to the notion of an evolutionary trade-off between obstetrics and any opposing factor, whether or not it is bipedalism. Further, some refer to the tight fetopelvic fit without explicitly addressing an evolutionary trade-off. Imprecise usage of the term 'obstetrical dilemma' generates confusion and conflation of different ideas. For the sake of clarity in the debate, we recommend that usage of the term 'obstetrical dilemma' be confined to the original ideas as phrased by Washburn (1960) with Rosenberg's (1992) expansion to include sexual dimorphism. Deviating concepts should be identified and named individually to avoid propagating confusion.

VII. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) Human birth is complex and risky when compared to non-human primates owing to the convoluted shape of our pelvis and the tight feto-pelvic fit. This is reflected by the curved, multi-rotational trajectory of the fetus through the maternal pelvis and the globally high incidence of obstructed labour that results from this close fit. By contrast, difficult birth in non-human primates is mainly due to malpresentation, while their cephalopelvic fits are relaxed by a markedly higher degree of ligamentous flexibility of the symphysis and sacroiliac joints compared to humans.
- (2) The human pelvis constitutes an evolutionary compromise between opposing selection pressures favouring a spacious birth canal in women as well as a smaller, mainly anteroposteriorly shorter, but (to a lesser degree) also a mediolaterally narrower pelvis in both sexes compared to non-human primates. Empirical support for the existence of an evolutionary trade-off resulting from antagonistic selection regimes comes from the pronounced degree of human pelvic sexual dimorphism, the tight fit between fetal and maternal pelvic dimensions, and the covariance between female head size and female pelvic shape, which collectively reduce the likelihood of a cephalopelvic mismatch.
- (3) The obstetrical dilemma hypothesis *sensu* Washburn (1960) and Rosenberg (1992), whereby bipedalism is

proposed to limit pelvic dimensions, cannot be rejected based on current data. More experimental work is required to elucidate differences in energetic efficiency of bipedal walking and running in association with variation in other pelvic dimensions, and particularly in terms of anteroposterior (sagittal) dimensions. This could provide a new direction for future testing and is expected to advance research on this topic.

- (4) The suggestion that women closely approach a metabolic ceiling in late pregnancy, and that this determines birth timing, has not been explicitly tested. Ongoing research on both physiological constraints and genetic processes implicated in the initiation of birth are important avenues to evaluate the EGG hypothesis and its assumptions. As such, further investigation is needed to test where the metabolic cap in pregnant women actually lies, which compensatory mechanisms can be used to avoid reaching it, and whether it theoretically could be crossed by the fetus at the time of birth. However, even if a metabolic threshold dictates the timing of birth, it does not disprove obstetrical and biomechanical constraints on the pelvis, as these can exist simultaneously.
- Various hypotheses have been proposed to explain the (5)tight fetopelvic fit and associated birth complications in humans, and several of these, notably those pertaining to pelvic floor stability, thermoregulation, and phenotypic plasticity are not mutually exclusive or incompatible with the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis. Most pertain to different levels of explanation, i.e. they explain a certain part of the variation in pelvic shape of modern humans, or they address individual components (i.e. maternal versus fetal) of the obstetrical dilemma. All are therefore important to understand the interplay between sex-specific and non-sex-specific selection pressures, fetal and maternal plastic responses to variation in ecological conditions, energetic constraints, and developmental pathways that channel pelvic variability in specific directions.

VIII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Herman Pontzer and Holly Dunsworth for helpful discussions regarding maternal metabolic capacity, and Tanja Restin for providing an MRI scan of a pregnant woman. Further, we extend our gratitude to the two anonymous reviewers for their helpful feedback. 3D model scans were collected at the following institutions: Natural History Museum Vienna, the Royal Museum for Central Africa, Tervuren, Digital Morphology Museum, KUPRI. We are also grateful for ongoing dialogue between various researchers working on this topic, especially Philipp Mitteroecker, Barbara Fischer, Mihaela Pavličev, and Jonathan Wells. Financial support was provided by the Swiss National Science Foundation Grant Nos. 31003A_156299 and 31003A_176319 and the Mäxi foundation.

IX. REFERENCES

- ABEE, C. R. (1989). The squirrel monkey in biomedical research. ILAR Journal 31, 11–20.
- ABITBOL, M. M. (1988). Evolution of the ischial spine and of the pelvic floor in the Hominoidea. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 75, 53–67.
- ABITBOL, M. M. (1996). Birth and Human Evolution. Anatomical and Obstetrical Mechanics in Primates. Bergin & Garvey, Westport.
- ABITBOL, M. M., TAYLOR-RANDALL, U. B., BARTON, P. T. & THOMPSON, E. (1997). Effect of modern obstetrics on mothers from third-world countries. *Journal of Maternal-Fetal Medicine* 6, 276–280.
- ACSÁDI, G. & NEMESKÉRY, J. (1970). History of Human Life Span and Mortality. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest.
- ALBERMAN, E. (1991). Are our babies becoming bigger? Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine 84, 257–260.
- ALLEN, J. A. (1877). The influence of physical conditions in the genesis of species. *Radical Review* 1, 108–140.
- ARRIAZA, B., ALLISON, M. & GERSZTEN, E. (1988). Maternal mortality in pre-Columbian Indians of Arica, Chile. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 77, 35–31.
- ARSUAGA, J. L. & CARRETERO, J. M. (1994). Multivariate analysis of the sexual dimorphism of the hip bone in a modern human population and in early hominids. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 93, 241–257.
- ASHTON-MILLER, J. A. & DELANCEY, J. O. (2007). Functional anatomy of the female pelvic floor. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1101, 266–296.
- AUERBACH, B. M., KING, K. A., CAMPBELL, R. M., CAMPBELL, M. L. & SYLVESTER, A. D. (2018). Variation in obstetric dimensions of the human bony pelvis in relation to age-at-death and latitude. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* **167**, 628–643.
- BADYAEV, A. V. (2002). Growing apart: an ontogenetic perspective on the evolution of sexual size dimorphism. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 17, 369–378.
- BANG, R. A., BANG, A. T., REDDY, M. H., DESHMUKH, M. D., BAITULE, S. B. & FILIPPI, V. (2004). Maternal morbidity during labour and the puerperium in rural homes and the need for medical attention: a prospective observational study in Gadchiroli, India. BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology 111, 231–238.
- BARTON, R. A. & CAPELLINI, I. (2011). Maternal investment, life histories, and the costs of brain growth in mammals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of* the United States of America 108, 6169–6174.
- BASHAH, D. T., WORKU, A. G., YITAYAL, M. & AZALE, T. (2019). The loss of dignity: social experience and coping of women with obstetric fistula, in Northwest Ethiopia. BMC Womens Health 19, 84.
- BEATO, M. & KLUG, J. (2000). Steroid hormone receptors: an update. Human Reproduction Update 6, 225–236.
- BECKER, I., WOODLEY, S. J. & STRINGER, M. D. (2010). The adult human pubic symphysis: a systematic review. *Journal of Anatomy* **217**, 475–487.
- BEETHAM, K. S., GILES, C., NOETEL, M., CLIFTON, V., JONES, J. C. & NAUGHTON, G. (2019). The effects of vigorous intensity exercise in the third trimester of pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth* 19, 281.
- BENNINGHOFF, A. & DRENCKHAHN, D. (2008). *Anatomie*, Edition (Volume 1). Urban und Fischer, München.
- BERGER, A. A., MAY, R., RENNER, J. B., VIRADIA, N. & DAHNERS, L. E. (2011). Surprising evidence of pelvic growth (widening) after skeletal maturity. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research* 29, 1719–1723.
- BERGMANN, C. (1847). Über die Verhältnisse der Wärmeökonomie der Thiere zu ihrer Grösse. Göttinger Studien 1, 595–708.
- BERNSTEIN, P. & CRELIN, E. (1967). Bony pelvic sexual dimorphism in the rat. Anatomical Record 157, 517–525.
- BEST, K. C., GARVIN, H. M. & CABO, L. L. (2018). An investigation into the relationship between human cranial and pelvic sexual dimorphism. *Journal of Forensic Sciences* 63, 990–1000.
- BETTT, L. (2014). Sexual dimorphism in the size and shape of the os coxae and the effects of microevolutionary processes. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 153, 167–177.
- BETTI, L. (2017). Human variation in pelvic shape and the effects of climate and past population history. *Anatomical Record* 300, 687–697.
- BETTI, L., CRAMON-TAUBADEL, N. V. & LYCETT, S. J. (2012). Human pelvis and long bones reveal differential preservation of ancient population history and migration out of Africa. *Human Biology* 84, 139–152.
- BETTI, L. & MANICA, A. (2018). Human variation in the shape of the birth canal is significant and geographically structured. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 285, 20181807.

- BETTI, L., VON CRAMON-TAUBADEL, N., MANICA, A. & LYCETT, S. J. (2013). Global geometric morphometric analyses of the human pelvis reveal substantial neutral population history effects, even across sexes. *PLoS One* 8, e55909.
- BLURTON JONES, N. (2016). Demography and Evolutionary Ecology of Hadza Hunter-Gatherers. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Bø, K. (2004). Urinary incontinence, pelvic floor dysfunction, exercise and sport. Sports Medicine 34, 451–464.
- BOLK, L. (1926). Das Problem der Menschwerdung: Vortrag gehalten am 15. April 1926 auf der XXV. Versammlung der anatomischen Gesellschaft zu Freiburg. Fischer, Jena.
- BORELL, U. & FERNSTRÖM, I. (1957). Shape and course of the birth canal. A radiographic study in the human. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica 36, 166–178.
- BOULET, S. L., ALEXANDER, G. R., SALIHU, H. M. & PASS, M. (2003). Macrosomic births in the United States: determinants, outcomes, and proposed grades of risk. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 188, 1372–1378.
- BOWDEN, D., WINTER, P. & PLOOG, D. (1967). Pregnancy and delivery behavior in the squirrel monkey (Saimiri sciureus) and other primates. Folia Primatologica 5, 1–42.
- BRABIN, L., VERHOEFF, F. & BRABIN, B. J. (2002). Maternal height, birthweight and cephalopelvic disproportion in urban Nigeria and rural Malawi. Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica 81, 502–507.
- BROWN, K. M., HANDA, V. L., MACURA, K. J. & DELEON, V. B. (2013). Threedimensional shape differences in the bony pelvis of women with pelvic floor disorders. *International Urgynecology Journal* 24, 431–439.
- BRUZEK, J. (2002). A method for visual determination of sex, using the human hip bone. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 117, 157–168.
- BUTTE, N. F. & KING, J. C. (2005). Energy requirements during pregnancy and lactation. *Public Health Nutrition* 8, 1010–1027.
- CALDWELL, W. E. & MOLOY, H. C. (1938). Anatomical variations in the female pelvis: their classification and obstetrical significance. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of Medicine* 32, 1–30.
- CAPOGROSSO, P., COLICCHIA, M., VENTIMIGLIA, E., CASTAGNA, G., CLEMENTI, M. C., SUARDI, N., CASTIGLIONE, F., BRIGANTI, A., CANTTELLO, F. & DAMIANO, R. (2013). One patient out of four with newly diagnosed erectile dysfunction is a young man—worrisome picture from the everyday clinical practice. *Journal of Sexual Medicine* **10**, 1833–1841.
- CHAMBERLAIN, G. (2006). British maternal mortality in the 19th and early 20th centuries. Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine 99, 559–163.
- CHRISTIAN, P. (2010). Maternal height and risk of child mortality and undernutrition. *JAMA, Journal of the American Medical Association* **303**, 1539–1540.
- CLAPP, J. F. (2002). Maternal carbohydrate intake and pregnancy outcome. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 61, 45–50.
- CNATTINGIUS, R., CNATTINGIUS, S. & NOTZON, F. C. (1998). Obstacles to reducing cesarean rates in a low-cesarean setting:the effect of maternal age, height, and weight. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 92, 501–506.
- COSTA-RAMÓN, A. M., RODRÍGUEZ-GONZÁLEZ, A., SERRA-BURRIEL, M. & CAMPILLO-ARTERO, C. (2018). It's about time: cesarean sections and neonatal health. *Journal of Health Economics* 59, 46–59.
- CRELIN, E. (1969). Interpubic ligament: elasticity in pregnant free-tailed bat. Science 164, 81–82.
- DAMMANN, O. & LEVITON, A. (2000). Role of the fetus in perinatal infection and neonatal brain damage. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics* 12, 99–104.
- DE TAYRAC, R. & LETOUZEY, V. (2016). Methods of pushing during vaginal delivery and pelvic floor and perineal outcomes: a review. *Current Opinion in Obstetrics and Gynecology* 28, 470–476.
- DEBYSER, I. W. J. (1995). Platyrrhine juvenile mortality in captivity and in the wild. International Journal of Primatology 16, 909–933.
- DELPRETE, H. (2019). Similarities in pelvic dimorphisms across populations. American Journal of Human Biology 31, e23282.
- DEMENOCAL, P. B. (2004). African climate change and faunal evolution during the Pliocene–Pleistocene. *Earth and Planetary Science Letters* **220**, 3–24.
- DESILVA, J. & LESNIK, J. (2006). Chimpanzee neonatal brain size: implications for brain growth in *Homo erectus. Journal of Human Evolution* 51, 207–212.
- DESILVA, J. M. & LESNIK, J. J. (2008). Brain size at birth throughout human evolution: a new method for estimating neonatal brain size in hominins. *Journal of Human Evolution* 55, 1064–1074.
- DOKMAK, F., MICHALEK, I. M., BOULVAIN, M. & DESSEAUVE, D. (2020). Squatting position in the second stage of labor: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* **254**, 147–152.
- DOLEA, C. & ABOUZAHR, C. (2003). Global burden of obstructed labour in the year 2000. In *Global Burden of Disease 2000*, pp. 1–17.World Health Organization (WHO), Geneva.
- DUFOUR, D. L. & SAUTHER, M. L. (2002). Comparative and evolutionary dimensions of the energetics of human pregnancy and lactation. *American Journal of Human Biology* 14, 584–602.
- DUJARDIN, B., VANCUTSEM, R. & LAMBRECHTS, T. (1996). The value of maternal height as a risk factor of dystocia: a meta-analysis. *Tropical Medicine and International Health* 1, 510–521.

- DUMONT, A., DE BERNIS, L., BOUVIER-COLLE, M.-H., BRÉART, G. & MOMA STUDY GROUP (2001). Caesarean section rate for maternal indication in sub-Saharan Africa: a systematic review. *Lanet* 358, 1328–1333.
- DUNSWORTH, H. M. (2016). The obstetrical dilemma unraveled. In Costly and Cute: Helpless Infants and Human Evolution (eds W. R. TREVATHAN and K. R. ROSENBERG), pp. 29–50.School for Advanced Research Press, Santa Fe.
- DUNSWORTH, H. M. (2018). There is no "obstetrical dilemma": towards a braver medicine with fewer childbirth interventions. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine* 61, 249–263.
- DUNSWORTH, H. M. (2020). Expanding the evolutionary explanations for sex differences in the human skeleton. *Evolutionary Anthropology* 29, 108–116.
- DUNSWORTH, H. M., WARRENER, A. G., DEACON, T., ELLISON, P. T. & PONTZER, H. (2012). Metabolic hypothesis for human altriciality. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 15212–15216.
- EARLY, J. D. & HEADLAND, T. N. (1998). Population Dynamics of a Philippine Rain Forest People: The San Ildefonso Agta. University Press of Florida, Gainesville.
- ELFTMAN, H. O. (1932). The evolution of the pelvic floor of primates. American Journal of Anatomy 51, 307–346.
- ELLISON, P. (2001). On Fertile Ground: A Natural History of Human Reproduction. Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- ELLISON, P. T. (2008). Energetics, reproductive ecology, and human evolution. *PaleoAnthropology* 2008, 172–200.
- ELVANDER, C., HÖKBERG, U. L. F. & EKÉUS, C. (2012). The influence of fetal head circumference on labor outcome: a population-based register study. *Acta Obstetricia* et Gynecologica Scandinavica 91, 470–475.
- FEREMBACH, D., SCHWIDETZKY, I. & STOUKAL, M. (1980). Recommendations for age and sex diagnosis of skeletons. *Journal of Human Evolution* 9, 517–549.
- FISCHER, B., GRUNSTRA, N. D. S., ZAFFARINI, E. & MITTEROECKER, P. (2021). Sex differences in the pelvis did not evolve de novo in modern humans. A facilitated variation hypothesis. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 5, 625–630. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41559–41021–01425–z.
- FISCHER, B. & MITTEROECKER, P. (2015). Covariation between human pelvis shape, stature, and head size alleviates the obstetric dilemma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112, 5655–5660.
- FISCHER, B. & MITTEROECKER, P. (2017). Allometry and sexual dimorphism in the human pelvis. *Anatomical Record* 300, 698–705.
- FRANZ, H. B., WENDLER, D. & OETTLING, G. (1996). Immunohistochemical assessment of steroid hormone receptors in tissues of the anal canal implications for anal incontinence? Acta Obstetricia et Cynecologica Scandinavica 75, 892–895.
- GARWICZ, M., CHRISTENSSON, M. & PSOUNI, E. (2009). A unifying model for timing of walking onset in humans and other mammals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 106, 21889–21893.
- GESSESSEW, A. & MESFIN, M. (2003). Obstructed labour in Adigrat zonal hospital, Tigray region, Ethiopia. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Development* 17, 175–180.
- GILCHRIST, R. (2018). Medieval Life: Archaeology and the Life Course. Boydell Press, Suffolk. GINGERICH, P. D. (1972). The development of sexual dimorphism in the bony pelvis of the squirrel monkey. Anatomical Record 172, 589–595.
- GOULD, S. J. (1970). Dollo on Dollo's law: irreversibility and the status of evolutionary laws. *Journal of the History of Biology* 3, 189–212.
- GOULD, S. J. (1977). Ontogeny and Phylogeny. Harvard University Press, Cambridge.
- GRABOWSKI, M. (2013). Hominin obstetrics and the evolution of constraints. Evolutionary Biology 40, 57–75.
- GRABOWSKI, M. W., POLK, J. D. & ROSEMAN, C. C. (2011). Divergent patterns of integration and reduced constraint in the human hip and the origins of bipedalism. *Evolution* 65, 1336–1356.
- GREGORY, W. K. (1928). The upright posture of man: a review of its origin and evolution. Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 67, 339–374.
- GRUNSTRA, N. D. S., ZACHOS, F. E., HERDINA, A. N., FISCHER, B., PAVLIČEV, M. & MITTEROECKER, P. (2019). Humans as inverted bats: a comparative approach to the obstetric conundrum. *American Journal of Human Biology* **31**, e23227.
- GRUSS, L. T., GRUSS, R. & SCHMITT, D. (2017). Pelvic breadth and locomotor kinematics in human evolution. *Anatomical Record* 300, 739–751.
- GRUSS, L. T. & SCHMITT, D. (2015). The evolution of the human pelvis: changing adaptations to bipedalism, obstetrics and thermoregulation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 370, 20140063.
- GUPTA, J. K. & NIKODEM, C. (2000). Maternal posture in labour. European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology 92, 273–277.
- GUPTA, J. K., SOOD, A., HOFMEYR, G. J. & VOGEL, J. P. (2017). Position in the second stage of labour for women without epidural anaesthesia. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 5, CD002006.
- HAGGARTY, P. (2010). Fatty acid supply to the human fetus. Annual Review of Nutrition 30, 237–255.
- HALLEY, A. C. (2017). Minimal variation in eutherian brain growth rates during fetal neurogenesis. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 284, 20170219.
- HANDA, V. L., PANNU, H. K., SIDDIQUE, S., GUTMAN, R., VANROOYEN, J. & CUNDIFF, G. (2003). Architectural differences in the bony pelvis of women with and without pelvic floor disorders. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* **102**, 1283–1290.

- HARTMAN, C. G. & STRAUS, W. L. (1939). Relaxation of the pelvic ligaments in pregnant monkeys. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology 37, 498–500.
- HÄUSLER, M. & SCHMID, P. (1995). Comparison of the pelves of Sts 14 and AL 288-1: implications for birth and sexual dimorphism in australopithecines. *Journal of Human Evolution* 29, 363–383.
- HÄUSLER, M. & SCHMID, P. (1997). Assessing the pelvis of AL 288-1: a reply to wood and Quinney. *Journal of Human Evolution* 32, 99–102.
- HEMMERICH, A., BANDROWSKA, T. & DUMAS, G. A. (2019). The effects of squatting while pregnant on pelvic dimensions: a computational simulation to understand childbirth. *Journal of Biomechanics* **87**, 64–74.
- HENDRIX, S. L., CLARK, A., NYGAARD, I., ARAGAKI, A., BARNABEI, V. & MCTIERNAN, A. (2002). Pelvic organ prolapse in the Women's Health Initiative: gravity and gravidity. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 186, 1160–1166.
- HILL, K. & HURTADO, A. M. (1996). Ache Life History: The Ecology and Demography of a Foraging People. de Gruyter, New York.
- HILL, K., HURTADO, A. M. & WALKER, R. S. (2007). High adult mortality among Hiwi hunter-gatherers: implications for human evolution. *Journal of Human Evolution* 52, 443–454.
- HIRATA, S., FUWA, K., SUGAMA, K., KUSUNOKI, K. & TAKESHITA, H. (2011). Mechanism of birth in chimpanzees: humans are not unique among primates. *Biology Letters* 7, 686–688.
- HISAW, F. L. (1924). The absorption of the pubic symphysis of the pocket gopher Geomys bursarius Shaw. American Naturalist 58, 93–98.
- HISAW, F. L. (1926). Experimental relaxation of the public ligament of the Guinea pig. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine 23, 661–663.
- Högberg, U., IREGREN, E., SIVEN, C.-H. & DIENER, L. (1987). Maternal deaths in medieval Sweden: an osteological and life table analysis. *Journal of Biosocial Science* 19, 495–503.
- HOLLIDAY, T. W. & FALSETTI, A. B. (1995). Lower-limb length of European early-modern humans in relation to mobility and climate. *Journal of Human Evolution* 29, 141–153.
- HOLT, E. L. & HOLDEN, A. V. (2018). A risk-benefit analysis of maintaining an aerobic-endurance triathlon training program during pregnancy: a review. *Science & Sports* 33, e181–e189.
- HUSEYNOV, A., ZOLLIKOFER, C. P. E., COUDYZER, W., GASCHO, D., KELLENBERGER, C., HINZPETER, R. & PONCE DE LEÓN, M. S. (2016). Developmental evidence for obstetric adaptation of the human female pelvis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 5227–5232.
- INMAN, V. T. (1947). Functional aspects of the abductor muscles of the hip. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery* 29, 607–619.
- JOHANNES, C. B., ARAUJO, A. B., FELDMAN, H. A., DERBY, C. A., KLEINMAN, K. P. & MCKINLAY, J. B. (2000). Incidence of erectile dysfunction in men 40 to 69 years old: longitudinal results from the Massachusetts male aging study. *Journal of Urology* 163, 460–463.
- JORCH, G. & HÜBLER, A. (2010). Neonatologie: die Medizin des Fr
 üh- und Reifgeborenen; 187 Tabellen. Thieme, Stuttgart.
- KARN, M. N. & PENROSE, L. S. (1951). Birth weight and gestation time in relation to maternal age, parity and infant survival. Annals of Eugenics 16, 147–164.
- KAUFMANN, C. A., ÁLVAREZ, M. C., L'HEUREUX, L. G. & GUTIÉRREZ, M. A. (2013). Dimorfismo sexual en la pelvis de Lama guanicoe (Artiodactyla, Camelidae): un caso de aplicación en el sitio Paso Otero 1, Buenos Aires, Argentina. *Mastozoología Neotropical* 20, 47–59.
- KAWADA, M., NAKATSUKASA, M., NISHIMURA, T., KANEKO, A. & MORIMOTO, N. (2020). Covariation of fetal skull and maternal pelvis during the perinatal period in rhesus macaques and evolution of childbirth in primates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 117, 21251–21257.
- KEARNEY, R., MILLER, J. M., ASHTON-MILLER, J. A. & DELANCEY, J. O. (2006). Obstetric factors associated with levator ani muscle injury after vaginal birth. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 107, 144–149.
- KENNEY-HUNT, J. P., WANG, B., NORGARD, E. A., FAWCETT, G., FALK, D., PLETSCHER, L. S., JARVIS, J. P., ROSEMAN, C., WOLF, J. & CHEVERUD, J. M. (2008). Pleiotropic patterns of quantitative trait loci for 70 murine skeletal traits. *Genetics* 178, 2275–2288.
- KENTON, K. & MUELLER, E. R. (2006). The global burden of female pelvic floor disorders. BJU International 98, 1–5.
- KHAMBALIA, A. Z., ALGERT, C. S., BOWEN, J. R., COLLIE, R. J. & ROBERTS, C. L. (2017). Long-term outcomes for large for gestational age infants born at term. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health* 53, 876–881.
- KONJE, J. C. & LADIPO, O. A. (2000). Nutrition and obstructed labor. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 72, 2918–2978.
- KROGMAN, W. M. (1951). The scars of human evolution. Scientific American 185, 54-57.
- KUMMER, B. (1959). Bauprinzipien des Säugerskeletts. Thieme-Verlag, Stuttgart.KUMMER, B. (1965). Die Biomechanik der aufrechten Haltung. Mitteilungen der
- Naturforscheiden Gesellschaft in Bern 22, 239–259.
- KUMMER, B. K. F. (1975). Functional adaptation to posture in the pelvis of man and other primates. In *Primate Functional Morphology and Evolution* (ed. R. H. TUTTLE), pp. 281–290.Mouton, The Hague.

- KURKI, H. K. (2007). Protection of obstetric dimensions in a small-bodied human sample. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 133, 1152–1165.
- KURKI, H. K. (2013a). Bony pelvic canal size and shape in relation to body proportionality in humans. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 151, 88–101.
- KURKI, H. K. (2013b). Skeletal variability in the pelvis and limb skeleton of humans: does stabilizing selection limit female pelvic variation? *American Journal of Human Biology* 25, 795–802.
- KURKI, H. K. & DECRAUSAZ, S. L. (2016). Shape variation in the human pelvis and limb skeleton: implications for obstetric adaptation. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 159, 630–638.
- LABELLA, A. L., ABRAHAM, A., PICHKAR, Y., FONG, S. L., ZHANG, G., MUGLIA, L. J., ABBOT, P., ROKAS, A. & CAPRA, J. A. (2020). Accounting for diverse evolutionary forces reveals mosaic patterns of selection on human preterm birth loci. *Nature Communications* 11, 3731.
- LANDE, R. (1980). Sexual dimorphism, sexual selection, and adaptation in polygenic characters. *Evolution* 34, 292–305.
- LANDE, R. & ARNOLD, S. J. (1985). Evolution of mating preference and sexual dimorphism. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 117, 651–664.
- LANE, C. A. (1903). A clinical comparison of the maternal pelvis and of the foetus in Europeans, Eurasians, and Bengalis: and the enunciation of a new law in accordance with which the size of the child at birth is determined. *Lancet* 162, 885–889.
- LANGE, I. G., HARTEL, A. & MEYER, H. H. (2003). Evolution of oestrogen functions in vertebrates. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 83, 219–226.
- LAWN, J. E., LEE, A. C., KINNEY, M., SIBLEY, L., CARLO, W. A., PAUL, V. K., PATTINSON, R. & DARMSTADT, G. L. (2009). Two million intrapartum-related stillbirths and neonatal deaths: where, why, and what can be done? *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetries* 107(Suppl 1), S5–S18.
- LAWRENCE, J. M., LUKACZ, E. S., NAGER, C. W., HSU, J. W. & LUBER, K. M. (2008). Prevalence and co-occurrence of pelvic floor disorders in community-dwelling women. Obstetries and Gynecology 111, 678–685.
- LEE, A. C., KOZUKI, N., BLENCOWE, H., VOS, T., BAHALIM, A., DARMSTADT, G. L., NIERMEYER, S., ELLIS, M., ROBERTSON, N. J., COUSENS, S. & LAWN, J. E. (2013). Intrapartum-related neonatal encephalopathy incidence and impairment at regional and global levels for 2010 with trends from 1990. *Pediatric Research* 74(Suppl 1), 50–72.
- LEUTENEGGER, W. (1970). Beziehungen zwischen der Neugeborenengrösse und Sexualdimorphismus am Becken bei simischen Primaten. Folia Primatologica 12, 224–235.
- LEUTENEGGER, W. (1974). Functional aspects of pelvic morphology in simian primates. *Journal of Human Evolution* **3**, 207–222.
- LEUTENEGGER, W. (1982). Encephalisation and obstetrics in primates with particular reference to human evolution. In *Primate Brain Evolution, Methods and Concepts* (eds E. ARMSTRONG and D. FALK), pp. 86–95.Plenum Press, New York.
- LEWIS, R. M., CHILDS, C. E. & CALDER, P. C. (2018). New perspectives on placental fatty acid transfer. *Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids* 138, 24–29.
- LI, R., SONG, Y. & MA, M. (2015). Relationship between levator ani and bony pelvis morphology and clinical grade of prolapse in women. *Clinical Anatomy* 28, 813–819.
- LIND, L. R., LUCENTE, V. & KOHN, N. (1996). Thoracic kyphosis and the prevalence of advanced uterine prolapse. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 87, 605–609.
- LINDBURG, D. G. (1982). Primate obstetrics: the biology of birth. American Journal of Primatology 3, 193–199.
- LIPSCHUETZ, M., COHEN, S. M., EIN-MOR, E., SAPIR, H., HOCHNER-CELNIKIER, D., PORAT, S., AMSALEM, H., VALSKY, D. V., EZRA, Y., ELAMI-SUZIN, M., PALTIEL, O. & YAGEL, S. (2015). A large head circumference is more strongly associated with unplanned cesarean or instrumental delivery and neonatal complications than high birthweight. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 213, 833.e1–833.e12.
- LOUDON, I. (1992). Death in Childbirth: An International Study of Maternal Care and Maternal Mortality, 1800–1950. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- LOUDON, I. (2000). Maternal mortality in the past and its relevance to developing countries today. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 72, 241S–246S.
- LOVEJOY, C. O. (1979). A reconstruction of the pelvis of AL 288-1 (Hadar-formation, Ethiopia). *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* **50**, 460 (Abstract).
- LOVEJOY, C. O., HEIPLE, K. G. & BURSTEIN, A. H. (1973). The gait of Australopithecus. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 38, 757–780.
- LUKACZ, E. S., LAWRENCE, J. M., CONTRERAS, R., NAGER, C. W. & LUBER, K. M. (2006). Parity, mode of delivery, and pelvic floor disorders. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 107, 1253–1260.
- MARTIN, R. D. (1983). Human Brain Evolution in an Ecological Context 52nd James Arthur Lecture on the Evolution of the Human Brain. American Museum of Natural History, New York.

MARTIN, R. D. (1990). Primate Origins and Evolution. Chapman and Hall, London.

MARTIN, R. D. (2007). The evolution of human reproduction: a primatological perspective. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 134(Suppl 45), 59–84.

- MEINDL, R. S., LOVEJOY, C. O., MENSFORTH, R. P. & DON CARLOS, L. (1985). Accuracy and direction of error in the sexing of the skeleton: implications for paleodemography. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 68, 79–85.
- MEIRI, S. & DAYAN, T. (2003). On the validity of Bergmann's rule. *Journal of Biogeography* 30, 331–351.
- MENDEZ-DOMINGUEZ, N., VAZQUEZ-VAZQUEZ, G. G., LAVIADA-MOLINA, H. A., DE JESUS INURRETA-DIAZ, M., FAJARDO-RUIZ, L. S. & AZCORRA, H. (2021). Cephalopelvic disproportion as primary diagnosis for cesarean section: role of neonatal birthweight in relation to maternal height at a Hospital in Merida, Mexico. American Journal of Human Biology 33, e23463.
- MENON, R., BONNEY, E. A., CONDON, J., MESIANO, S. & TAYLOR, R. N. (2016). Novel concepts on pregnancy clocks and alarms: redundancy and synergy in human parturition. *Human Reproduction Update* 22, 535–560.
- MEREWOOD, A., MEHTA, S. D., CHEN, T. C., BAUCHNER, H. & HOLICK, M. F. (2009). Association between vitamin D deficiency and primary cesarean section. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* **94**, 940–945.
- MITTEROECKER, P. & FISCHER, B. (2016). Adult pelvic shape change is an evolutionary side effect. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 113, E3596.
- MITTEROECKER, P., HUTTEGGER, S. M., FISCHER, B. & PAVLICEV, M. (2016). Cliffedge model of obstetric selection in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America 113, 14680–14685.
- MOFFETT, E. A. (2017). Dimorphism in the size and shape of the birth canal across anthropoid primates. *Anatomical Record* 300, 870–889.
- MYERS, C. & SMITH, M. (2019). Pelvic floor muscle training improves erectile dysfunction and premature ejaculation: a systematic review. *Physiotherapy* 105, 235–243.
- NAVA, A., COPPA, A., COPPOLA, D., MANCINI, L., DREOSSI, D., ZANINI, F., BERNARDINI, F., TUNIZ, C. & BONDIOLI, L. (2017). Virtual histological assessment of the prenatal life history and age at death of the upper Paleolithic fetus from Ostuni (Italy). *Scientific Reports* 7, 9427.
- NESBITT, T. S., GILBERT, W. M. & HERRCHEN, B. (1998). Shoulder dystocia and associated risk factors with macrosomic infants born in California. *American Journal* of Obstetrics and Gynecology **179**, 476–480.
- NGUYEN, J. K., LIND, L. R., CHOE, J. Y., MCKINDSEY, F., SINOW, R. & BHATIA, N. N. (2000). Lumbosacral spine and pelvic inlet changes associated with pelvic organ prolapse. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* **95**, 332–336.
- NGUYEN, N., LEE, L. M., FASHING, P. J., NURMI, N. O., STEWART, K. M., TURNER, T. J., BARRY, T. S., CALLINGHAM, K. R., GOODALE, C. B., KELLOGG, B. S., BURKE, R. J., BECHTOLD, E. K., CLAASE, M. J., ERIKSEN, G. A., JONES, S. C. Z., et al. (2017). Comparative primate obstetrics: observations of 15 diurnal births in wild gelada monkeys (*Theropithecus gelada*) and their implications for understanding human and nonhuman primate birth evolution. *American Journal of Physical Anthropology* 163, 14–29.
- NICOLOSI, A., GLASSER, D. B., MOREIRA, E. & VILLA, M. (2003). Prevalence of erectile dysfunction and associated factors among men without concomitant diseases: a population study. *International Journal of Impotence Research* 15, 253–257.
- NISKANEN, M., RUFF, C. B., HOLT, B., SLÁDEK, V. & BERNER, M. (2018). Temporal and geographic variation in body size and shape of Europeans from the late Pleistocene to recent times. In Skeletal Variation and Adaptation in Europeans: Upper Paleolithic to the Twentieth Century (ed. C. RUFF), pp. 49–89. Hoboken: Wiley & Sons.
- NISSEN, H. & YERKES, R. (1943). Reproduction in the chimpanzee: report on fortynine births. Anatomical Record 86, 567–578.
- NOWELL, A. & KURKI, H. (2020). Moving beyond the obstetrical dilemma hypothesis: birth, weaning and infant care in the Plio-Pleistocene. In *The Mother-Infant Nexus in Anthropology: Small Beginnings, Significant Outcomes* (eds R. GOWLAND and S. HALCROW), pp. 173–190.Springer International Publishing, Cham.
- NYGAARD, I., BARBER, M. D., BURGIO, K. L., KENTON, K., MEIKLE, S., SCHAFFER, J., SPINO, C., WHITEHEAD, W. E., WU, J., BRODY, D. J. & PELVIC FLOOR DISORDERS, N. (2008). Prevalence of symptomatic pelvic floor disorders in US women. *JAMA*, *Journal of the American Medical Association* **300**, 1311–1316.
- OHLSÉN, H. (1973). Moulding of the pelvis during labour. Acta Radiologica Diagnosis 14, 417–434.
- ÖZALTIN, E., HILL, K. & SUBRAMANIAN, S. (2010). Association of maternal stature with offspring mortality, underweight, and stunting in low-to middle-income countries. *JAMA*, *Journal of the American Medical Association* **303**, 1507–1516.
- PARSCH, J. & ELLEGREN, H. (2013). The evolutionary causes and consequences of sexbiased gene expression. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 14, 83–87.
- PAVLIČEV, M., ROMERO, R. & MITTEROECKER, P. (2019). Evolution of the human pelvis and obstructed labor: new explanations of an old obstetrical dilemma. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 22, 3–16.
- PERAZZOLO, S., HIRSCHMUGL, B., WADSACK, C., DESOYE, G., LEWIS, R. M. & SENGERS, B. G. (2017). The influence of placental metabolism on fatty acid transfer to the fetus. *Journal of Lipid Research* 58, 443–454.

- PETRAGLIA, F., SAWCHENKO, P. E., RIVIER, J. & VALE, W. (1987). Evidence for local stimulation of ACTH secretion by corticotropin-releasing factor in human placenta. *Nature* 328, 717–719.
- PICCIANO, M. F. (2003). Pregnancy and lactation: physiological adjustments, nutritional requirements and the role of dietary supplements. *Journal of Nutrition* 133, 19978–2002S.
- PONCE DE LEÓN, M. S., GOLOVANOVA, L., DORONICHEV, V., ROMANOVA, G., AKAZAWA, T., KONDO, O., ISHIDA, H. & ZOLLIKOFER, C. P. (2008). Neanderthal brain size at birth provides insights into the evolution of human life history. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 13764–13768.
- POPPITT, S. D., PRENTICE, A. M., JÉQUIER, E., SCHUTZ, Y. & WHITEHEAD, R. G. (1993). Evidence of energy sparing in Gambian women during pregnancy: a longitudinal study using whole-body calorimetry. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 57, 353–364.
- PORTMANN, A. (1939). Nesthocker und Nestflüchter als Entwicklungszustände von verschiedener Wertigkeit bei Vögeln und Säugern. *Revue Suisse de Zoologie* 46, 385–390.
- PORTMANN, A. (1941). Die Tragzeiten der Primaten und die Dauer der Schwangerschaft beim Menschen: ein Problem der vergleichenden Biologie. *Revue* Suisse de Zoologie 48, 511–518.
- PRENTICE, A. M. & PRENTICE, A. (1988). Energy costs of lactation. Annual Review of Nutrition 8, 63–79.
- PRIDDIS, H., DAHLEN, H. & SCHMIED, V. (2012). What are the facilitators, inhibitors, and implications of birth positioning? A review of the literature. *Women and Birth* 25, 100–106.
- PRUAL, A., BOUVIER-COLLE, M. H., DE BERNIS, L. & BREART, G. (2000). Severe maternal morbidity from direct obstetric causes in West Africa: incidence and case fatality rates. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 78, 593–602.
- RAκ, Y. (1991). Lucy's pelvic anatomy: its role in bipedal gait. *Journal of Human Evolution* 20, 283–290.
- RAK, Y. & ARENSBURG, B. (1987). Kebara 2 Neanderthal pelvis: first look at a complete inlet. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 73, 227–231.
- REITTER, A., DAVISS, B. A., BISITS, A., SCHOLLENBERGER, A., VOGL, T., HERRMANN, E., LOUWEN, F. & ZANGOS, S. (2014). Does pregnancy and/or shifting positions create more room in a woman's pelvis? *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* **211**, 662.e661.
- ROBERTS, D. F. (1953). Body weight, race and climate. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 11, 533–558.
- ROSEN, R. C., FISHER, W. A., EARDLEY, I., NIEDERBERGER, C., NADEL, A. & SAND, M. (2004). The multinational men's attitudes to life events and sexuality (males) study: I. prevalence of erectile dysfunction and related health concerns in the general population. *Current Medical Research and Opinion* 20, 607–617.
- ROSENBERG, K. & TREVATHAN, W. (2002). Birth, obstetrics and human evolution. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 109, 1199–1206.
- ROSENBERG, K. R. (1992). The evolution of modern human childbirth. Yearbook of Physical Anthropology 35, 89–124.
- ROYSTON, E. & ARMSTRONG, S. (1990). La prévention des décès maternels. Organisation Mondiale de la Santé, Geneva.
- RUFF, C. (2010). Body size and body shape in early hominins implications of the Gona pelvis. *Journal of Human Evolution* 58, 166–178.
- RUFF, C. (2017). Mechanical constraints on the hominin pelvis and the "obstetrical dilemma". Anatomical Record 300, 946–955.
- RUFF, C. B. (1991). Climate and body shape in hominid evolution. *Journal of Human Evolution* 21, 81–105.
- RUFF, C. B. (1994). Morphological adaptation to climate in modern and fossil hominids. *Yearbook of Physical Anthropology* 37, 65–107.
- RUFF, C. B. (1995). Biomechanics of the hip and birth in early Homo. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 98, 527–574.
- RUFF, C. B. (2002). Variation in human body size and shape. Annual Review of Anthropology 31, 211-232.
- SADLEIR, R. M. F. S. (1969). The Ecology of Reproduction in Wild and Domestic Mammals. Methuen, London.
- SAVARD, C., LEBRUN, A., O'CONNOR, S., FONTAINE-BISSON, B., HAMAN, F. & MORISSET, A. S. (2021). Energy expenditure during pregnancy: a systematic review. *Nutrition Reviews*. **79**, 394–409. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuaa1093.
- SAVELL, K. R. R., AUERBACH, B. M. & ROSEMAN, C. C. (2016). Constraint, natural selection, and the evolution of human body form. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 113, 9492–9497.
- SAY, L., CHOU, D., GEMMILL, A., TUNÇALP, Ö., MOLLER, A.-B., DANIELS, J., GÜLMEZOGLU, A. M., TEMMERMAN, M. & ALKEMA, L. (2014). Global causes of maternal death: a WHO systematic analysis. *Lancet Global Health* 2, e323–e333.
- SAYER, D. & DICKINSON, S. D. (2013). Reconsidering obstetric death and female fertility in Anglo-Saxon England. World Archaeology 45, 285–297.
- SCHLABRITZ-LOUTSEVITCH, N., MAHER, J., SULLIVAN, R., MARI, G., SCHENONE, M., COHEN, H. L., WORD, R. A., HUBBARD, G. B. & DICK, E. J. JR. (2018). Parturition in baboons (*Papio spp.*). Scientific Reports 8, 1174.

- SCHNEIDER, H., HUSSLEIN, P.-W. & SCHNEIDER, K. T. M. (2016). Die Geburtshilfe. Springer, Berlin.
- SCHULTZ, A. H. (1949). Sex differences in the pelves of primates. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 7, 401–423.
- SCHULTZ, A. H. (1969). The Life of Primates. Weidenfeld and Nicolson, London.
- SCHUTZ, H., DONOVAN, E. R. & HAYES, J. P. (2009a). Effects of parity on pelvic size and shape dimorphism in *Mus. Journal of Morphology* 270, 834–842.
- SCHUTZ, H., POLLY, P. D., KRIEGER, J. D. & GURALNICK, R. P. (2009b). Differential sexual dimorphism: size and shape in the cranium and pelvis of grey foxes (*Urocyon*). *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **96**, 339–353.
- SEMMELWEIS, I. P. (1861). Die Aetiologie, der Begriff und die Prophylaxis des Kindbettfiebers. Hartleben, Pest.
- SHEINER, E., LEVY, A., KATZ, M. & MAZOR, M. (2005). Short stature—an independent risk factor for cesarean delivery. *European Journal of Obstetrics & Gynecology and Reproductive Biology* **120**, 175–178.
- SHIPMAN, P. (2013). Why is human childbirth so painful? American Scientist 101, 426–429.
- SKIPPEN, M. W. (2009). Obstetric Practice and Cephalopelvic Disproportion in Glasgow between 1840 and 1900. University of Glasgow, Glasgow.
- SMITH, P., HEIMER, G., NORGREN, A. & ULMSTEN, U. (1990). Steroid hormone receptors in pelvic muscles and ligaments in females. *Gynecologic and Obstetric Investigation* 30, 27–30.
- ST. CLAIR, E. M. (2007). Sexual dimorphism in the pelvis of *Microcebus*. International Journal of Primatology 28, 1109–1122.
- STANSFIELD, E., KUMAR, K., MITTEROECKER, P. & GRUNSTRA, N. D. S. (2021). Biomechanical trade-offs in the pelvic floor constrain the evolution of the human birth canal. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 118, e2022159118.
- STAV, K., ALCALAY, M., PELEG, S., LINDNER, A., GAYER, G. & HERSHKOVITZ, I. (2007). Pelvis architecture and urinary incontinence in women. *European Urology* 52, 239–244.
- STEIN, T. A., KAUR, G., SUMMERS, A., LARSON, K. A. & DELANCEY, J. O. L. (2009). Comparison of bony dimensions at the level of the pelvic floor in women with and without pelvic organ prolapse. *American Journal of Obstetries and Gynecology* **200**, 241.e241.
- STEWART, K., COWAN, D. & PHILPOTT, R. (1979). Pelvic dimensions and the outcome of trial labour in Shona and Zulu primigravidas. *South African Medical Journal* 55, 847–851.
- STOCKINGER, D. E., TORRENCE, A. E., HUKKANEN, R. R., VOGEL, K. W., HOTCHKISS, C. E. & HA, J. C. (2011). Risk factors for dystocia in pigtailed macaques (*Macaca nemestrina*). Comparative Medicine **61**, 170–175.
- STOLLER, M. K. (1995). The Obstetric Pelvis and Mechanism of Labor in Nonhuman Primates. PhD thesis, University of Chicago.
- STONE, P. K. (2016). Biocultural perspectives on maternal mortality and obstetrical death from the past to the present. *Yearbook of Physical Anthropology* 159, S150–S171.
- SZE, E. H. M., KOHLI, N., MIKLOS, J. R., ROAT, T. & KARRAM, M. M. (1999). Computed tomography comparison of bony pelvis dimensions between women with and without genital prolapse. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* **93**, 229–232.
- TAGUE, R. G. (1989). Variation in pelvic size between males and females. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 80, 59-71.
- TAGUE, R. G. (1991). Commonalities in dimorphism and variability in the anthropoid pelvis, with implications for the fossil record. *Journal of Human Evolution* 21, 153–176.
- TAGUE, R. G. (1995). Variation in pelvic size between males and females in nonhuman anthropoids. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 97, 213–233.
- TAGUE, R. G. (2005). Big-bodied males help us recognize that females have big pelves. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 127, 392–405.
- TAGUE, R. G. (2016). Pelvic sexual dimorphism among species monomorphic in body size: relationship to relative newborn body mass. *Journal of Manualogy* 97, 503–517.
- TAGUE, R. G. & LOVEJOY, C. O. (1986). The obstetric pelvis of A.L. 288-1 (Lucy). *Journal of Human Evolution* 15, 237–256.
 THOMS, H. & GODFRIED, M. S. (1939). The interrelationships between fetal weight,
- HOMS, H. & GODFRIED, M. S. (1939). The interrelationships between fetal weight, size of pelvic inlet, and maternal height. *Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine* 11, 355–362.
- THURBER, C., DUGAS, L. R., OCOBOCK, C., CARLSON, B., SPEAKMAN, J. R. & PONTZER, H. (2019). Extreme events reveal an alimentary limit on sustained maximal human energy expenditure. *Science Advances* 5, eaaw0341.
- TILKENS, M. J., WALL-SCHEFFLER, C., WEAVER, T. D. & STEUDEL-NUMBERS, K. (2007). The effects of body proportions on thermoregulation: an experimental assessment of Allen's rule. *Journal of Human Evolution* 53, 286–291.
- TREVATHAN, W. (2015). Primate pelvic anatomy and implications for birth. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 370, 20140065.
- TREVATHAN, W. & ROSENBERG, K. (2000). The shoulders follow the head: postcranial constraints on human childbirth. *Journal of Human Evolution* 39, 583–586.
- TREVATHAN, W. R. & ROSENBERG, K. R. (2016). Human evolution and the helpless infant. In Costly and Cute: Helpless Infants and Human Evolution (eds W. R. TREVATHAN and K. R. ROSENBERG), pp. 29–50. School for Advanced Research Press, Santa Fe.
- TRINKAUS, E. (1984). Neandertal public morphology and gestation length. Current Anthropology 25, 509–514.

- TURNER, S. E., FEDIGAN, L. M., NAKAMICHI, M., MATTHEWS, H. D., MCKENNA, K., NOBUHARA, H., NOBUHARA, T. & SHIMIZU, K. (2010). Birth in free-ranging Macaca fuscata. International Journal of Primatology 31, 15–37.
- VALLOIS, H. V. (1937). La durée de la vie chez l'homme fossile. L'Anthropologie 47, 499–532.
- VILLAR, J., VALLADARES, E., WOJDYLA, D., ZAVALETA, N., CARROLI, G., VELAZCO, A., SHAH, A., CAMPODÓNICO, L., BATAGLIA, V., FAUNDES, A., LANGER, A., NARVÁEZ, A., DONNER, A., ROMERO, M., REYNOSO, S., et al. (2006). Caesarean delivery rates and pregnancy outcomes: the 2005 WHO global survey on maternal and perinatal health in Latin America. *Lancet* 367, 1819–1829.
- WALL, L. L. (1999). Birth trauma and the pelvic floor: lessons from the developing world. *Journal of Women's Health* 8, 149–155.
- WALL-SCHEFFLER, C. M. & MYERS, M. J. (2013). Reproductive costs for everyone: how female loads impact human mobility strategies. *Journal of Human Evolution* 64, 448–456.
- WALL-SCHEFFLER, C. M. & MYERS, M. J. (2017). The biomechanical and energetic advantages of a mediolaterally wide pelvis in women. *Anatomical Record* 300, 764–775.WARD, C. V., MADDUX, S. D. & MIDDLETON, E. R. (2018). Three-dimensional anatomy
- of the anthropoid bony pelvis. American Journal of Physical Anthropology 166, 3–25. WARRENER, A. G. (2017). Hominin hip biomechanics: changing perspectives.
- Anatomical Record 300, 932–945.
- WARRENER, A. G., LEWTON, K. L., PONTZER, H. & LIEBERMAN, D. E. (2015). A wider pelvis does not increase locomotor cost in humans, with implications for the evolution of childbirth. *PLoS One* **10**, e0118903.
- WASHBURN, S. L. (1960). Tools and human evolution. *Scientific American* 203, 63–75.

WASHBURN, S. L. (1963). Behavior and human evolution. In *Classification and Human Evolution* (ed. S. L. WASHBURN), pp. 190–203. Aldine, Chicago.

WEAVER, T. D. & HUBLIN, J. J. (2009). Neandertal birth canal shape and the evolution of human childbirth. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 8151–8156.

(Received 15 July 2020; revised 6 May 2021; accepted 10 May 2021)

- WELLS, C. (1975). Ancient obstetric hazards and female mortality. Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine 51, 1235–1249.
- WELLS, J. C. K. (2015). Between Scylla and Charybdis: renegotiating resolution of the 'obstetric dilemma' in response to ecological change. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 370, 20140067.
- WELLS, J. C. K. (2017). The new "obstetrical dilemma": stunting, obesity and the risk of obstructed labour. *Anatomical Record* 300, 716–731.
- WELLS, J. C. K., DESILVA, J. M. & STOCK, J. T. (2012). The obstetric dilemma: an ancient game of Russian roulette, or a variable dilemma sensitive to ecology? *Yearbook of Physical Anthropology* 55, 40–71.
- WELLS, J. C. K., WIBAEK, R. & POULLAS, M. (2018). The dual burden of malnutrition increases the risk of cesarean delivery: evidence from India. *Frontiers in Public Health* 6, 292.
- WHITCOME, K. K., MILLER, E. E. & BURNS, J. L. (2017). Pelvic rotation effect on human stride length: releasing the constraint of obstetric selection. *Anatomical Record* 300, 752–763.
- WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, WORLD BANK & UNITED NATIONS POPULATION DIVISION (2014). Trends in Maternal Mortality: 1990 to 2013: Estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, the World Bank and the United Nations Population Division: Executive Summary. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- ZAFFARINI, E. & MITTEROECKER, P. (2019). Secular changes in body height predict global rates of caesarean section. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences* 286, 20182425.
- ZHANG, X., DECKER, A., PLATT, R. W. & KRAMER, M. S. (2008). How big is too big? The perinatal consequences of fetal macrosomia. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 198, 517.c511.
- ZOLLIKOFER, C. P. E., SCHERRER, M. & PONCE DE LEÓN, M. S. (2017). Development of pelvic sexual dimorphism in hylobatids: testing the obstetric constraints hypothesis. *Anatomical Record* 300, 859–869.